
i 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE, 
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX 

 
Telephone:  01730 266551 

Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

Date: Thursday, 26 May 2022 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX 

 
 

 
Membership:      To be appoinet at Annual Council on 19 May 2022 
 
Councillors   
 

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS) 
 

 
 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
 
Daniel Toohey 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Date of Publication: Wednesday, 18 May 2022 
 
Contact Officer: Lydia Merriman 01730 234073 
 Email:  lydia.merriman@easthants.gov.uk 

Working in Partnership 



ii 
 

 

  Page Nos 

  
 

1 - 8 

1.  Apologies for Absence   
 

 

2.  Confirmation of Minutes   
 
Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes. 
 

9 - 16 

3.  Chairman's Announcements   
 

 

4.  Declarations of Interest   
 
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the room or chamber when the 
meeting discusses and votes on the matter. 
 

 

 

Matters for Decision 
 

 
 

5.  Acceptance of Supplementary Matters   
 

 

6.  Future Items   
 

17 - 20 

7.  Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place   
 

 

 

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items 
 

 
 

 

Section I 
 

 
 

7.(i)   25256/048/FUL/NU - Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens 
and, Boyneswood Close, Medstead, Alton   
25256/048/FUL/NU  Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens 

and, Boyneswood Close, Medstead, Alton 
 
 William Lacey Group 
  
Proposed construction of 45 dwellings on land east of Boyneswood 
Road, Medstead, Alton, Hampshire 
 
 

21 - 58 



iii 
 

 
  
 

7.(ii)   55587/152/RES/AE - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, 
Camp Road, Bordon   
55587/152/RES/AE Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, 

Camp Road, Bordon 
 
 DIO/WBRC 
  
Reserved Matters Application pursuant to application 55587/001 
(scale, layout, landscaping, appearance and access)  - For the 
erection of: i) Block A: . retail food store, service yard and access . 
Retail/office uses including multi-storey car-park with access from 
Budds Lane, . Retail/offices with residential (and residential above) - 
up to 53 residential units ii) Block B - retail and office uses 
incorporating up to 42 residential units and car-parking iii) Block C - 
conversion of the former Sergeants' Mess building for 
bars/restaurants and leisure/entertainment uses including a heritage 
centre and iv) Block E - retail uses and up to 80 residential units v) 
Minor changes to the previously approved access and circulation 
roads/footpaths, public realm, and other open space/landscaping and 
lighting vi) New access/roads/car parking (including multi-storey car-
park as above) and cycle parking and temporary car park vii) 
Transport 'hub' viii) Landscaping and boundary fencing/treatments ix) 
Utilities and services corridors and associated infrastructure 
 

59 - 116 

 

Section II 
 

 
 

 

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items 
 

 
 

 NONE 
 

 



iv 
 

 
  
 



 

 
v 

  Page Nos 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073. 
 
 

Internet 
 

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

Public Attendance and Participation 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda.  
 
Disabled Access 
 

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled. 
 

Emergency Procedure 
 
Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound. 
 
PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY. 
 
DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO. 
 
No Smoking Policy 
 

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and grounds 
 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority. 

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can determine 
planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area of the district 
on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South Downs National 
Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP.  

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT 

The report is divided into two main parts;  

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.   

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which the 
Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.   

Each part of the report is split into two sections:   

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations  

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, details 
of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items. 

Section 2 – Other matters  

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse.  

Page 1

Agenda Annex



 

No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.” 

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 
to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of the 
Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been 
prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  
Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between 
preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional information has 
been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be circulated at the 
meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to members of the public. 

3. PLANNING POLICY 

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material policies 
or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and other material 
considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant development plans are the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
2016 and the saved policies in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
2006.  The Development Plan also includes made neighbourhood Plans. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.   

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February  2019 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”   

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development that 
departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it should 
proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-date in 
terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also fairly 
and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters of 
what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in land-
use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 

Page 2



 

landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.   

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction 

work 
 property maintenance issues 

 need for development (save in 
certain defined circumstances) 

 the identity or personal characteristics of 
the applicant 

 competition between firms,   or matters that are dealt with by other 
legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not 
a reason to refuse planning permission 
or defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation. 

 

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  Nevertheless, 
where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to relevant 
considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.   

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because there 
are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its merits in 
the light of all the material considerations.  

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a clear 
land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way that is 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justification.  

 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations should 
meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be:  
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning; 
 directly related to the proposed development; 
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and 

Page 3



 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

 

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that planning 
permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for unacceptable 
development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements offered by a 
developer, which are not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration to be taken into account 
when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it is for the Council to decide 
what weight should be attached to a particular material consideration.  

6. PLANNING APPEALS  

Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it: 
 

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time. 

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance. 

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be 

 complete,  
 precise,  
 specific 
 relevant to the application, and 
 supported by substantiated evidence.  

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice  

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision. 

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed. 

 
The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council: 
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF, 
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach.  

Page 4



 

An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site, 

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law, 
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable, 

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed, 

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances, 

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage, 

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions, 

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or 

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters. 

 

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE 

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an application 
to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In general, 
this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will not interfere 
with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to do so.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals that directs 
local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission. 

 

8. PROPRIETY 

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning applications 
they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can include views 
expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is 
not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS  

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public 

Page 5



 

interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private 
interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not whether 
owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial or other 
loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would unacceptably 
affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to be protected 
in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of private property are 
therefore not material planning consideration. 

10. OTHER LEGISLATION  

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities.  

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service.  

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic rights 
of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in order to 
protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific Articles of 
the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), 
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), 
Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property).  All planning 
applications are assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the 
development proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, 
this will be highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 
 

11. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak must 
have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 hours 
before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the 
Committee meeting itself. 

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will be 
allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.   

 

Page 6



 

12.  INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The files 
and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect. 

13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the event 
of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s decision.  
Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications may result in 
the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will 
aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such 
circumstances. 

 
Simon Jenkins 
Director of Regeneration and Place 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case) 
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014 
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016 
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies 
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks, Ropley, 

Petersfield, Liss, and East Meon 
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements 
 any other document specifically referred to in the report. 

Page 7

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



  1 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
At a meeting of the Planning Committee held on 28 April 2022 
 
 
Present  
 
Councillor: S Pond (Chairman) 
 
Councillors: A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, D Evans, A Glass, M Johnson, 
C Louisson, E Woodard, K Budden (Reserve), K Carter (Reserve) and T Maroney 
(Reserve) 
 
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor Jay   
 
 
82. Apologies for Absence  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors S Hunt, P Langley, S Schillemore 
and I Thomas.  
 

83. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2022 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record.  
 

84. Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman welcomed all those present to the Planning Committee, in 
addition to the Councillors who sit on the committee.  
 

85. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest from members of this meeting.  
 

86. Acceptance of Supplementary Matters  
 
Councillors noted the supplementary papers, which included information 
received since the agenda had been published. These were reported verbally 
at the meeting and are attached as Annex A to these minutes.  
 

87. Future Items  
 
The committee agreed to inspect the following sites, should the applications be 
referred to the Planning Committee for determination:  
 

 53322/007 – Land North of Bartons Road, Rowlands Castle, Havant 
 Page 9



  2 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

 58038/003 – Proposed Solar Farm and Battery Storage Facility-Area 1, 
Broadway Lane, Lovedean 
 

 55562/010 – Development Land East of Horndean, Rowlands Castle, 
Horndean, Waterlooville 

 
88. Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place  

 
The report of the Director of Regeneration and Place was considered, and it 
was RESOLVED that:  
 
 

Application no. Site and Description: Resolution: 

 

59143/FUL 

 

Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, 

Watercress Way, Medstead, Alton 

 

Construction of 4 dwellings with parking 

and landscaping (as amended by plans 

and additional information received on 

23/07/2021 and 03/11/2021) 

 

Refused subject to the reason as set out 

in Appendix B. 

 

 
 
 

SDNP/22/00643/HOUS 

 

138 The Causeway, Petersfield, GU31 

4LL 

 

Demolition of an existing conservatory 

structure and building an extension on 

the same footprint as the removed 

conservatory. 

 

Approved subject to the conditions as set 

out in Appendix A. 

 
89. PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council - Applications and related 

planning matters to be determined or considered by the Council as the 
local planning authority. 
 

90. SECTION 1 - APPLICATIONS REPORTED IN DETAIL 
 

91. 59143/FUL/MH - Land to the rear of 2-4 Willowfield, Watercress Way, 
Medstead, Alton  
 

Page 10



  3 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

Full Application – Construction of 4 dwellings with parking and landscaping (as 
amended by plans and additional information received on 23/07/2021 and 
03/11/2021) 
 
The Principal Planning Officer initially wished to raise members’ attention to the 
Supplementary matters, in which he highlighted the revised site location plan, 
showing the repositioned access point onto Holland Drive. Three additional 
objections to the proposal had also been submitted. Changes to the 
recommendation had also been made in respect of revised amendments to the 
conditions, to deliver the required on and off-site ecological mitigation and to 
protect biodiversity within the countryside.    
 
An aerial image was shown of the application site, which was formerly garden 
land. This was introduced as a parcel of land, approximately 0.21 hectares, 
situated to the east of existing residential properties in Willowfield and to the 
west off Holland Drive, which depicted a recent development for approval of 80 
houses. The land to the north formed an open grass area and to the south, a 
pocket of woodland existed. A site location plan was also shown of the site in 
relation to Holland Drive, situated on the eastern boundary. 
 
A spatial plan showed the existing Settlement Policy Boundaries (SPB) for 
Medstead and Four Marks, in relation to the position of the application site. The 
Officer wished to highlight that the local shops and facilities, which were located 
along the A31, south west of the site, were approximately 500-600 metres 
distance from the proposed dwellings. 
 
Due to the fact that the proposed application site lay outside of a Settlement 
Policy Boundary, the Principal Planning Officer showed an image taken from 
Part 2 of the Local Plan, evidencing the Council’s Housing and Employment 
and Land Allocations document. Land previously located outside of the SPB, as 
included in the adopted Local Plan 2006, was highlighted, as well as the 
approved Friars Oak development of 80 dwellings at Holland Drive. The Officer 
then explained the Principle of Development and displayed an updated map 
which showed a change to the boundary line since 2006, which now 
incorporated Holland Drive. It was noted that the proposed application site was 
still excluded from the Settlement Policy Boundary area and therefore was 
designated as countryside. Further SPB distances beyond the proposed parcel 
of land, showed approximately 40 metres to the south, 100 metres to the north, 
130 metres to the east and 210 metres to the west.   
 
The Principal Planning Officer then explained the purposes of a Settlement 
Policy Boundary in respect of differentiating between built developments and 
the countryside. He stated that because the proposal was outside of the 
Settlement Policy Boundary, it was contrary to EHDC Local Plan and Joint Core 
Strategy Policy CP19 (Development in the Countryside), and also Policy 1 of 
the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. He continued that a local 
authority was allowed to make decisions based upon the merits of permitting an 
application which outweighed the need for refusal. In this instance, EHDC 
Planning Team had concluded there were Material Considerations to take into 

Page 11



  4 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

account, as detailed in the report, which included the fact that the site was 
already surrounded with development and there were neighbouring amenities.  
 

A site layout was displayed to identify the proposed layout and to show a mixed 
appearance of dwellings. It was noted that parking would exceed requirement 
of the Council’s adopted SPD Vehicle Parking Standards. Concerns expressed 
in relation to housing density in the area were addressed, and a slide showed 
calculations of the proposed dwellings per hectare. Artistic impressions showed 
the design appearance within the street scene, as well as elevations and floor 
plans of the properties.  
 
Further determining issues addressed within the report were then outlined by 
the Principal Planning Officer. 
 
Tree Removal and Retention – It was noted that nineteen trees were to be 
retained, and eight of those had already been issued with Tree Protection 
Orders (TPOs). The thirty trees which were due to be removed, had been given 
a low classification from the Council’s Arboricultural Officer and not considered 
worthy of any future retention. The proposed vehicle access point had been re-
positioned to minimise any impact on the protected trees and a new landscape 
of tree planting had been proposed to replace any removed trees. 
 
Ecology – As the site had originally been residential gardens and included a 
pocket of woodland, the County Ecologist raised concerns due to habitat loss 
with vegetation removal, as there would not be enough space to accommodate 
the wildlife. To enhance the area, an additional site had been recommended in 
order to mitigate this with compensations of habitat loss, as stated in the report.  
 
There were concerns in respect of the Wildlife Corridor, east of the Holland 
Drive development. A buffer strip of wildlife corridors feature around most of the 
site at the southern boundary. Part of a condition to compensate had been 
agreed, with an existing break in the corridor of a large oak tree and play area. 
Plans showed a wildlife area, due to be planted soon.  
 
In conclusion of his presentation, the Principal Planning Officer identified the 
main points in respect of principle of development and the material 
considerations. He stated there would be no adverse impact on the 
neighbouring amenity and that the development would be in keeping with the 
character of the local area. No objections had been received from the County 
Ecologists, County Highway Authority or the County Drainage Consultant. 
 
The Officer then recommended that permission should be granted, subject to 
the conditions and S106 legal obligations, as set out on pages 56-62 of the 
agenda and to include the changes set out on the supplementary matters.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Officer for his presentation and proceeded to state 
that four members of the public were registered to speak in respect of this 
application.  
 
The Committee was then addressed by the following deputees: Page 12



  5 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

 
Mr Nick Stenning spoke as a member of the public.  
As set out in Appendix (i), attached to these minutes. 
 
Cllr Charles Clark, spoke as a representative of Medstead Parish Council  
As set out in Appendix (ii), attached to these minutes. 
 
Mr Kris Mitra, spoke as the agent on behalf of the applicant  
As set out in Appendix (iii), attached to these minutes. 
 
Cllr Jonathan May, read out the deputation on behalf of Ward Cllr Thomas 
As set out in Appendix (iv), attached to these minutes. 
 
The Chairman asked the Principal Planning Officer if he wished to make any 
comments on the deputations received. He responded by wishing to clarify that 
the Boundary Review had only been used to highlight the functionality of the 
site. He also reiterated that material considerations were important, as the site 
currently did not serve a purpose.  
  
The Chairman then invited the Committee to ask questions of the Officers in 
attendance and to debate the application.  
 
Questions were raised by members in relation to the trees. It was confirmed 
that the Tree Officer was satisfied that two large existing trees on the site would 
not cast shadow onto the proposed dwellings and they were sufficiently 
distanced from Plot 4. The solicitor confirmed that an application for any TPO 
trees would only be revoked by express application.  It was agreed by the 
Officer that the Applicant could be asked to save certain trees by including 
them as an Informative, as part of Condition 7. The site ecologist was satisfied 
that that there was sufficient mitigation in place in relation to the play area and 
the nearby oak tree. New trees would also be planted in the existing area of 
rough shrubbery. 
 
Members asked for further clarification in respect of the Settlement Policy 
Boundary (SPB). Both the Officer and Solicitor reiterated that although the site 
was within a countryside location, members should assess the situation in 
relation to the material considerations provided and to also consider whether 
the site currently provided any necessary function.  
 
The Officer clarified that the SPB was a legacy issue, although this may be 
reviewed for the emerging Local Plan. The Solicitor confirmed however, that at 
this time, the emerging Local Plan should not be taken into consideration on 
legal terms, as a decision could not be deferred.  He continued that any 
Neighbourhood Plan had to be compliant with the Local Authority’s adopted 
Local Plan and the Local Plan could not be overturned. The Principal Planning 
Officer stated that if a development proposal was found to be contrary to one or 
more policies, material considerations may be explored, and each application 
should be viewed on its own merit.  
 

Page 13



  6 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

Some members expressed their view that there was a need for consistency of 
decision making in respect of adhering to policies. One member expressed his 
concern that by permitting the application, it would set a precedent for any 
future countryside applications. Another member’s view was that there would 
be no harm to the countryside, as the site was not located within the 
countryside. Other members however, argued that the site visit clarified that the 
location was countryside. 
 
The Committee voted on the Officer’s recommendation for permission of 
application 59143/FUL/MH, subject to the reasons listed on pages 56-62 of the 
agenda, as set out within the report and amended by the supplementary 
matters, plus the inclusion of a landscaping Informative, as agreed.  
 
Cllr Pond proposed the recommendation and the motion was duly seconded by 
Cllr Evans. 
 
Following the vote, the recommendation was declared NOT CARRIED, 5 
Councillors voting FOR approval, 6 Councillors voting AGAINST approval and 
no Councillors ABSTAINING from voting.  
 
An alternative motion to recommend REFUSAL, was proposed by Cllr Williams 
and duly seconded by Cllr Ashcroft, for the following reason: 
 
The development site lies outside the Settlement Policy Boundary for 
Medstead whereby the principle of new market housing is unacceptable 
and the justification put forward in support of the proposal is not 
considered sufficient to outweigh the requirements of the Development 
Plan. In consequence, the development is contrary to Policies CP10 
and CP19 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy 
and Policy 1 of the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Following the vote, the alternative motion was declared CARRIED, 10 
Councillors voting FOR refusal, 1 Councillor voting AGAINST refusal and no 
Councillors ABSTAINING from voting.   
 
(The meeting adjourned at 8:24pm and resumed at 8:32pm) 
 
 

92. PART 2 - South Downs National Park Authority - Applications and related 
planning matters to be determined or considered by the Council on behalf 
of the South Downs National Park Authority. 
 

93. SECTION 1 - APPLICATIONS REPORTED IN DETAIL 
 

94. SDNP/22/00643/HOUS - 138 The Causeway, Petersfield, Hampshire, GU31 
4LL  
 
The Development Management Team Leader explained that the application 
was being brought forward to Committee as the Applicant was a member of 
staff at EHDC.  Page 14



  7 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

 
The Officer proceeded to introduce the application by showing a plan of the 
property on Google Earth, situated south-east of The Causeway. The site 
location plan highlighted the proposed single storey extension, which was 
proposed to be located to the rear of the semi-detached two storey dwelling. 
 
The proposed rear elevation and floor plans were also displayed. The proposed 
extension would measure 3 metres high and would be sited on the same 
footprint as the demolished conservatory. The extension would include brick 
work elevations and a flat roof, with a roof lantern. The proposed side elevation 
was also displayed, which showed the site of the extension with a flanked wall 
between the neighbouring property.  Rear elevation photographs of the existing 
conservatory were then displayed, in relation to the adjacent property, which 
also had a conservatory. It was proposed that a parapet wall be set in the 
boundary 0.4 metres from the existing fencing between the neighbouring 
properties. The wall would be slightly higher than the fencing but considered to 
be acceptable, as it would not be dissimilar to the current situation.  
 
All determining issues had been addressed within the report. The Development 
Management Team Leader proceeded to outline the main planning issues.  
 
In terms of the Principle of Development, the site would fall within the 
Settlement Policy Boundary of Petersfield. There would be no increase in 
floorspace, which conformed to Policy SD31 of the South Downs National Park 
Local Plan.  The design in respect of scale and character to the dwelling was 
considered appropriate. The impact on the neighbouring amenity was 
considered acceptable and similar to the current situation.   
 
Condition 5 would be required in respect of Policy SD08 of the South Downs 
Local Plan, with dark night skies mitigation for the use of the roof lantern and bi-
fold doors. 
 
It was noted that no objections to this application had been received from any 
neighbours or Town Council.  
 
The Development Management Team Leader concluded his presentation and 
recommended approval for the reasons stated, as listed within the report.  
 
The Chairman thanked the Officer for his presentation and invited the 
Committee to ask questions of the Officer and to provide any comments. 
 
The Development Management Team Leader confirmed that within planning 
regulations, no minimum distance is required when building in proximity to the 
boundary, but everything has to be contained within the owner’s boundary. 
 
It was noted by members that an inclusion of Condition 5 in respect of the Dark 
Night Skies was welcomed.  
 
Clarification was sought in relation to the guttering for the flat roof. The Officer 
confirmed that it would be 0.5 metres higher than the actual building, although Page 15



  8 
Planning Committee  

(28.4.22) 

 
 
 

there would be no significant difference from the existing situation, as the 
parapet wall structure would be acceptable for the neighbouring property and 
maintenance could still be carried out. 
 
The Committee voted on the Officer’s recommendation for approval of 
application SDNP/22/00643/HOUS, subject to the conditions listed on page 77-
78 of the agenda, as set out in the report.   
  
Cllr Pond proposed the recommendation and the motion was duly seconded by 
Cllr Louisson.  
 
Following the vote, the recommendation was declared unanimously CARRIED, 
11 Councillors voting FOR approval, no Councillors voting AGAINST approval 
and no Councillors ABSTAINING from voting.  
 
 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and concluded at 8.45 pm 
 

Page 16



 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
26 May 2022 

 
POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE INSPECTION 

 
The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site 
inspections under this item. 
 
Where a site inspection is requested, this will be undertaken if the application is being 
referred to the Planning Committee for determination and does not automatically refer the 
item to the Planning Committee as there is a formal procedure in the Council’s Constitution 
to do this. 
 

 Reference Description and Address 

1 55587/157  
 
 
 

Reserved Matters Application pursuant to application 
55587/001 (scale, layout, landscaping, appearance and 
access) for the erection of 104 dwellings and new 
access/roads/car parking/lighting including a new junction to 
Oakhanger Road, landscaping works (including tree retention 
and tree removal proposals and open space proposals) and 
boundary fencing/treatments, utilities and services corridors 
and associated infrastructure including SuDS/swales, and 
stopping up of parts of Bolley Avenue 
 
Prince Philip Barracks, Budds Lane, Bordon, GU35 0JE 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

2 55587/158  Reserved matters application relative to plot 1.9 pursuant to 
hybrid planning permission 55587/001 for 52 residential units 
and associated infrastructure including site access, internal 
roads, parking, open space and landscaping (detailed site 
layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping to be 
considered). It also seeks to address the requirements of 
conditions 3, 4, 6, 7 and 47, which all necessitate submission 
as part of any reserved matters application.  
 
Development Parcel 1.9, Havannah Way, Bordon 
 

Page 17



This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

3 55417/009  Outline application - A rural exception site comprising 9no. 
affordable homes and 3no. market homes with all matters 
apart from access and layout reserved. (Access and Layout 
to be considered) 
 
Land at, Hole Lane, Bentley, Farnham, GU10 5LP 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

4 
 
 
 
 
 

59484 Development to provide 67 bed purpose-built care home (Use 
Class C2) and 28 no. apartments (Use Class C3) providing 
100% Affordable, age restricted, sheltered accommodation 
and electricity sub-station; Development of land north of 
Winchester Road for new gateway landscaped public open 
space. Associated access, parking, landscaping, sustainable 
drainage, structures, 
and other works. 
 
Proposed Care Home and Landscaped Gateway for 
Alton, Winchester Road, Chawton, Alton 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

5 
 
 
 
 
 

55506/002 Installation of renewable energy generating station 
comprising ground-mounted photovoltaic solar arrays and 
battery-based electricity storage containers together with 
substation, inverter/transformer stations, site accesses, 
internal access tracks, security measures, access gates, 
other ancillary infrastructure and landscaping and biodiversity 
enhancements. 
 
Land East of the Old Dairy, Selborne Road, Selborne, 
Alton 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

Page 18



6 
 
 
 
 
 

59174/001 Change of use of land to provide an enclosed dog exercise 
field including a 1.9m high wire deer fence and gate, field 
shelter, parking area with associated track 
 
Land at Junction of Cakers Lane and, Clays Lane, East 
Worldham, Alton 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 21



 

PART 1 

 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE 

 

Applications to be determined by the 
Council as the Local Planning Authority 

 
26 May 2022 

 

SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 
Item No.: 01 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 
 

PROPOSAL Proposed construction of 45 dwellings on land east of Boyneswood Road, 
Medstead, Alton, Hampshire 

LOCATION: Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens and, Boyneswood Close, Medstead, 
Alton 

REFERENCE 25256/048 PARISH: Medstead 

APPLICANT:  William Lacey Group 

CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY: 

22 November 2021 

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 13 January 2022 

COUNCILLORS: Councillor J May, Councillor D B Tennyson, Councillor I C 
Thomas 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL 

 

Page 22



The site area for this planning application exceeds two hectares which under the 
Council's Constitution requires it to be referred to the Planning Committee for its 
decision. 
 
Site and Development 
 
Site 
The site lies within the parish of Medstead, to the north of the built-up area of Four Marks and 
to the south of the main village of Medstead. It lies outside the settlement policy boundary as 
defined in the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan and is therefore within an area 
where the countryside policies of the development plan apply. The site does not lie within 5km 
of the Wealden Heaths SPA nor is it within a river catchment that drains to the Solent. The 
Habitats Regulations are therefore not engaged. 
   
The site is broadly square in shape with an area of 2.41ha of open pasture land with hedging 
and tree planting to the northern and eastern boundaries beyond which are extensive areas of 
woodland and a tree plantation.  The western and part of the southern boundaries of the site 
border the enclosed rear gardens of dwellings along Boyneswood Close, Brakenbury 
Gardens, Thornybush Gardens and Friars Oak. Residential development has recently been 
completed on land directly to the south (Holland Drive) which falls within the settlement 
boundary and from which access into the proposed site would be taken.   The site itself is 
relatively flat with a slight fall from west to east and again from north to south.  
 
A Public Right of Way runs along the northern boundary of the site and provides access from 
Boyneswood Road to Chawton Park Wood.  
 
Development 
The proposal seeks full permission for the residential development of the site for 45 dwellings 
together with the provision of a playground (LAP), landscaping and open space, with 
vehicular and pedestrian access off Holland Drive to the south. A new footpath connection 
would be provided to the north into Chawton Park Wood.    
 
The scheme proposes: 
 

 45 dwellings - 26 of which are open market homes and 19 affordable homes (40%) 

 Range of dwelling sizes from 1 bed through to 4 beds 

 2 bungalows with remainder being two storey built form 

 Footpath connection to the north 

 A LAP to be provided on the development to the south 

 Access from recently constructed development to the south (Holland Drive) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



Relevant Planning History 
 

 25256/045 - Outline application for up to 58 Dwellings (including up to 23 Affordable 
Homes) with Access to be determined, including associated garages, car parking, 
infrastructure, open space, landscaping and potential dedication of land for community 
use.  Refused and subsequent appeal dismissed in 2019 for the following summarised 
reasons: 

 
 - Policy CP19 is not contrary to the NPPF and carries great weight 
 - The scheme has no support under CP10 spatial strategy 
 - The LPA has a 5 Year Housing Land Supply 

- The site would not be an appropriate location for the development due to a clear 
conflict with CP10 and CP19 given the development would be on an unallocated site in 
the countryside 

 

 25256/047 - Development of 45 dwellings, provision of adventure playground and 
associated landscaping and open space, with access from Holland Drive. The LPA 
declined to determine this application on 24/03/2021, for the following reason:  

 
 "It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that this proposal is similar to the scheme 
dismissed at appeal within the last two years and there has been no  
 significant change in the development plan (so far as relevant to the application) nor any   
other material considerations since the appeal decision on 05/09/2019.  

As such, the Local Planning Authority declines to determine the application under section 
70A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990." 

  

 On land to the south: 
      25256/032 - Development of 80 dwellings including 32 affordable homes, garages, car 

parking, access, infrastructure, open space and landscaping. Approved in 2014 and      
constructed.   

 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Development Plan consists of: 
 

 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy 2014 

 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Land Allocations April 
2016 

 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review (Saved Policies) March 2006 

 Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan May 2016 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 24



East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
CP1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP2 - Spatial Strategy 

CP10 -  Spatial strategy for housing 

CP11 -  Housing tenure, type and mix 

CP13 -  Affordable housing on residential development sites 

CP14 -  Affordable housing for rural communities 

CP16 -  Protection and provision of social infrastructure 

CP18 -  Provision of open space, sport and recreation and built facilities 

CP19 -  Development in the countryside 

CP20 -  Landscape 

CP21 -  Biodiversity 

CP24 -  Sustainable construction 

CP25 -  Flood Risk 

CP26 -  Water resources/ water quality 

CP27 -  Pollution 

CP28 -  Green Infrastructure 

CP29 -  Design 

CP31 -  Transport 
CP32 -  Infrastructure 
 

Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan (2016) 
Policy 1 –  Spatial Plan 

Policy 10 –  Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity 

Policy 11 –  Sustainable Drainage Systems 

 
Vehicle Parking Standards SPD 2018 
Climate Change & Sustainable Construction SPD 2022 
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations April 2016 
 
The document shows three allocations within the settlements, all of which have been granted 
planning permission and have been built out. These provide for 237 dwellings.  
 
Other Relevant Documents 
 
Five Year Housing Land Supply Report September 2021 - This shows that the District Council 
(outside of the SDNP area) can demonstrate 5.74 years of deliverable housing land supply for 
the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2026, to meet the identified residual Local Housing 
Need derived by the standard method. This is an equivalent surplus of 357 dwellings.   
 
Emerging Local Plan 
 
The proposed development site features as an ‘included’ site in the Council’s Land Availability 
Assessment (LAA), referenced as MED-012. As a result of that status, the site has been 
considered as part of the emerging Local Plan.  

Page 25



The site did not feature as a proposed housing allocation in the Draft Local Plan (Regulation 
18), consulted on in early 2019. The site also does not feature in any of the options approved 
by the Council on 23 September 2021, regarding the spatial strategy and sites being further 
considered as part of the emerging plan-making process.  
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2021) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2021 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
in the consideration of the development; 
 
 2. Achieving sustainable development  
 4. Decision-making  
 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities  
 9. Promoting sustainable transport  
11. Making effective use of land  
12. Achieving well-designed places  
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
Village Design Statement - Medstead - A Vision for the Future - non statutory planning 
guidance that has been the subject of public consultation and therefore is a material planning 
consideration. 
 
Medstead Parish Plan 2008 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
EHDC Drainage Consultant - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
EHDC Environmental Health (Contaminated Land) - No objection, subject to an informative 
 
EHDC Traffic Team - No objection 
 
EHDC Arboricultural Officer - No objection, subject to a condition requiring the submission 
and approval of an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan. 
 

Page 26



EHDC Landscape Officer - No objection, subject to a condition securing a planting scheme  
 
EHDC Housing Officer - An affordable housing need does exist locally, but raises an objection 
due to the conflict with policy CP14 (as a rural exception site) 
 
EHDC CIL Team - The development of the proposed 45 dwellings would be CIL liable if 
permitted, in accordance with our CIL Charging Schedule  
 
EHDC Refuse & Recycling Team - No objection 
 
HCC Archaeology - No objection 
 
HCC Highways - Objection. The proposed junction improvement works on the 
A31/Boyneswood Road would not sufficiently mitigate the impact of the proposed 
development on the local highway network    
 

HCC Drainage (SUDS) - Request further information 
 
HCC Ecologist - No objection, but requests additional detail on the proposed dark buffer zone  
 
Hants and Isle of Wight Fire and Rescue Service - No objection, subject to informative 
 
HCC Education - No objection and no contribution sought 
  
Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - Seeks a financial contribution of 
£92,492.55 towards the provision of healthcare services needed by the occupants of the new 
development. 
 
Thames Water - No objection 
 
Four Marks Parish Council - Objects, for the following reasons:  
 

 The proposed development site is outside the Settlement Policy boundary and contrary to 
policy CP19 of the EHDC Local Plan Joint Core Strategy and Policy 1 of the Medstead 
and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

 The applicant has challenged the LPA's (EHDC) declared Five Year Land Supply, yet 
EHDC's published position statement, dated September 2021, confirm the HLS is currently 
5.74. However irrespective of this, the site is outside the Settlement Policy Boundary and 
following the supreme court decision brought about by Cornerstone Barristers challenge, 
where it was decided that SPB's are not policies for the supply of housing but there to 
protect the countryside, and therefore remain in date and valid until replaced or revised in 
the next adopted revision of the Local Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 27



 There will be an environmental impact on the local vicinity, which is even more important 
with the climate emergency. The proposed site is the last remaining piece of open green 
space in this location undeveloped and is a vital green lung and connectivity for wildlife to 
Chawton Park Woods. 

 

 The single lane railway bridge on Boyneswood Road, and the Boyneswood Road junction 
with the A31 are already over capacity, as confirmed by HCC, with all recent junction 
easing and pedestrian safety proposals currently deemed undeliverable. Although each 
planning application should be determined on its own merit, the cumulative effect of the 
increase in traffic with both this application, and Planning Application 59143, currently 
awaiting decision, must be taken into consideration as they share the same access/egress 
points. 

 

 Access to the proposed development site is through Holland Drive, a narrow and 
meandering residential road, with only one proposed vehicular access/egress point in and 
out of the existing and proposed developments. Consideration must be given to the health 
and safety implications with initially, construction traffic, and subsequently an additional 
50+ vehicle movements per day, using the one access, and potential restrictions for fire 
and rescue services. 

 

 Information provided in the Planning Statement is out of date, and the Transport 
Statement is littered with inaccuracies. 

 

 Development of this site has already been rejected at both local and national levels 
(planning application number 25256/045) and refer to the Inspector's Appeal statement on 
the previous application in this location, which are still relevant. 

 

 Given the recent rate of housing delivery in Four Marks/South Medstead, I consider it 
unsurprising that MPC, FMPC and residents are concerned about the amount of new 
housing that has been built and any implications that has for the role and functioning of 
this area. Those concerns being voiced most particularly in terms of Four Marks/South 
Medstead becoming a dormitory housing area, with mitigating infrastructure not keeping 
pace with the rate of new housing delivery. I consider the provision of further housing 
alone, on what would in effect be an unplanned basis, would not be conducive to the 
reinforcement of Four Marks/South Medstead's role and function as a small local service 
centre providing a limited range of services. 

 

 A consequence of the area's recent rapid growth appears to be mitigating infrastructure 
provision lagging behind the realisation of the effects it is intended to address. In that 
regard Parish Councillor Thomas (FMPC) referred to the LEA being "tardy" in providing 
additional school accommodation, while Councillor Kemp-Gee (HCC) commented that 
while infrastructure contributions have been secured "the spend of that money has been 
slow". This is something that the appellant appears to acknowledge, given the planning 
obligation that would secure the junction improvement before any part of the appeal 
development could be occupied. The development's effects upon local infrastructure is 
something that I comment further on in my reasoning for the second main issue. 

Page 28



 Against the backdrop of rapid housing growth in the area, from everything I have heard 
and read, I consider that the appeal development does not find any particular support 
under Policy CP10, given the minimum identified housing requirement of 175 dwellings for 
Four Marks/South Medstead has already been greatly exceeded. That minimum 
requirement I consider to be commensurate with a settlement area, categorised by EHDC 
as being a small local service centre suitable for some new development when the JCS 
was adopted. The appellant has not sought to justify the development on the basis of 
there being a specific local need and in cross examination Mr Stallan, the appellant's 
planning witness, accepted that the vitality of the area would not be undermined if this 
development did not proceed. I consider the absence of a need to maintain the area's 
vitality is unsurprising, given the quantum of house building that has recently arisen in this 
area." 

 

 Four Marks Parish Council respectfully request the Planning Officer to refuse this 
application.  

 

Medstead Parish Council - Objects, for the following reasons:  
 

 The proposed development site is outside the Settlement Policy Boundary and is therefore 
contrary to Policy CP19 of the EHDC Local Plan Core Strategy and also Policy 1 of the 
Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan. In September 2021 the EHDC's 
published statement confirmed the Housing Land Supply (as set under the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)) is 5.74. Notwithstanding this and as stated above, 
this site is outside of the Settlement Policy Boundary (SPB) and the recent Supreme Court 
decision following the Cornerstone Barristers challenge, decided that SPBs are not 
policies for the supply of housing but are there to protect the countryside and they remain 
in date and valid until replaced or revised. 

 

 The sole access to this site is via Holland Drive. This is a narrow winding road, unsuitable 
for heavy traffic and serves the existing estate which incorporates a children's play area. In 
view of the rural location, it can be expected that a number of the proposed properties will 
house 2 car families, which in itself will produce substantial vehicle movements every day. 
This application is in an area of nominal public transport and would result in frequent 
vehicle journeys to all but a small number of local shops. This will of course result in a rise 
in air pollution and other Health and Safety issues. 

 

 The entrance/exit from Holland Drive is onto Boyneswood Road, a residential "C" class 
road and a short distance to the south, this road crosses a single lane bridge over the 
Watercress Heritage Railway line. This bridge also incorporates a narrow footpath marked 
by a painted white line and independent kerbstones glued to the road surface. To access 
this footpath, residents would be obliged to cross Boyneswood Road. With the already 
increasing traffic this could prove a difficult and hazardous crossing with poor sight lines, 
particularly as oncoming traffic from the A31 has right of way. There has in the past been 
a plan to build a separate footbridge alongside the road bridge, allowing that bridge to 
handle two way traffic. Improvements to the junction of Boyneswood Road and the very 
busy A31 have been shelved by the HCC as also undeliverable. 

Page 29



 We consider the design and style of the proposed housing to be more suited to an urban 
rather than a rural setting. The resultant loss of the last piece of green open space, 
providing a vital "green lung" and access for wildlife to the adjacent Chawton Park Woods 
would be irreversible. 

 

 The development of this site has been the subject of previous applications, which have all 
been rejected at both local and National levels and we see no relevant information in this 
latest, some would say cynical application, which would change those decisions in respect 
of this application. 

 

 In closing, we would like to refer to the Prime Minister's statement at the recent 
Conservative Party Conference on the 6th October 2021 when he said " You can see how 
much room there is to build homes that young families need in this country, not of green 
fields......but beautiful homes on brownfield sites in places where homes make sense.....". 
This comes along with discussions within Cabinet about whether the Government should 
alter their manifesto target to build 300,000 homes a year. 

 

 Medstead Parish Council therefore respectfully request that the Planning Officer refuse 
this application. 

 
Representations 
 
70 objections have been received raising the following summarised concerns: 
 
Principle of development: 

 Contrary to Government advice to build on brown field land, not green field land 

 Outside the Settlement Boundary 

 EHDC has a 5 year land supply 

 Nothing has changed since the appeal decision 

 Housing quote already met and exceeded 

 Not allocated in the neighbourhood plan 

 Slight reduction in number of homes does nothing to make this application any more 
acceptable than last time 

 Application challenges the Govt's aspirations for local democracy. It cannot be right that 
an application that was recently rejected at appeal can be re-styled and re-presented in 
such a short time period. It undermines the whole concept of a Plan-led system 

 If granted permission, it would make a mockery of the entire planning process and set a 
bad precedent 

 Consideration of the planning application is a waste of public money at a time when the 
public purse is already at full stretch 

 Application is a cynical repeat of previous ones in an attempt to wear down EHDC and 
residents 

 Development is not wanted or needed by the local population who have had numerous 
urban style estates thrust upon them 

 

Page 30



Infrastructure: 
 

 The site is away from local infrastructure and would lead to many additional vehicle 
journeys 

 The local area is already overloaded in respect of schools, medical facilities and amenities 

 The infrastructure is unable to cope as it is, and there is no need or demand for 
developing these sites. Woodland and greenfields should be left to help with climate 
change and nature/trees is in the Prime Minister's ten point green plan 

 The village of Four Marks has accommodated far in excess of the previously stipulated 
limits of the Neighbourhood Plan. We have already had over 300 new homes in the last 3 
years 

 Precise provision of 5 year land supply should not be allowed to be a deciding issue in this 
case - provision of adequate, healthy, open space for existing residents is even more 
important 

 Cannot see anything useful in this application to help with infrastructure improvements 
which are badly needed 

 Concerns regarding the capacity for sewage & treatment capacity and the supply of mains 
water which has continued to be an issue for developers 

 The ‘community space’ identified by the developer is on land of questionable quality; the 
land was previously the site of a treatment plant 

 
Traffic/highways/pedestrians: 
 

 Scheme would lead to total reliance on the private car 

 Too far for some to walk to bus stops 

 Traffic congestion made far worse and currently dangerously busy 

 Area is already fraught with difficulties for drivers and pedestrians due to the volume of 
traffic (much of it speeding) along Boyneswood Road, plus the restrictive single lane traffic 
across the railway bridge where the sight lines are terrible 

 Unclear how the increase in traffic emerging from Holland Drive would manage to safely 
join Boyneswood Road  

 A31/Boyneswood Road junction; developer's capacity claims at this junction in order to 
accommodate this proposed development is to be challenged. The Atkins report says that 
the Boyneswood/A31 junction is over-capacity and could have huge queues; additionally it 
could also be a source of accidents 

 Access to public transport is difficult due to the narrow pathways and narrow bridge. 
Pedestrian access particularly for families, the elderly and disabled is inadequate 

 More pollution  

 There will be severe traffic problems accessing the site with only one exit to the A31 and a 
very narrow bridge immediately before the junction. This already becomes congested 
during peak periods 

 The virtual bridge footpath is poorly lit and provides a safety hazard for all residents. 

 We were given categorical assurances that Holland Drive could not be used as a "road for 
construction" for any further development 
 

Page 31



 Long waits already occur when joining the A31 in the morning. The developers proposal 
that new residents will use public transport or car share is unrealistic 

 The problems with access onto Boyneswood Road, over the single file railway bridge and 
out onto the A31 have not been resolved 

 
Impact on local character: 
 

 Development of another urban estate is not in keeping with the nature of Four Marks 

 It is a proposed greenfield development. It would turn a much valued 'green lung' buffer 
into a housing estate. There would be loss of amenity for many and loss of privacy by 
overlooking for some 

 The development is in no way sensitive to the local context of Medstead 

 Amendments required to layout and design 

 The scheme groups most of the affordable houses into a single, unsightly enclave of 
extremely plain and ugly houses 

 Only 2 bungalows proposed within the site 

 It may have reduced the number of houses slightly from the dismissed appeal but a 
separate application for four houses next door has been submitted by same developer 

 
Impact on wildlife: 

 Ecological mitigation measures have not been undertaken on the previous development 
next door 

 The area is a much need wildlife oasis in what is already an over-developed part of 
Medstead 

 Adverse impact on wildlife; fauna, butterflies, birds, deer, badgers. Deer and badgers walk 
through the natural areas and nesting owls in trees  

 Swift bricks have to be included in the development by condition  
 
Other matters raised: 
 

 No community engagement from developer 

 A leaflet drop took place just a few days before the deadline date 

 The village does not want these houses, especially not on this field as evidenced by the 
93% objecting to the plan when the developer sent out their previous survey. Most 
residents surveyed did not reply to the developer's survey seeing it as another cynical 
attempt to ride roughshod over the wishes of the residents in the local area. 

 Climate emergency it's laughable and sad to see their token offering for energy efficiency 
is to supply 2 home charging points 

 Noise pollution and air pollution, will increase, green space will destroyed 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



1 letter of support has been received raising the following summarised comments:  
 

 Would help the Government's need for more housing  

 This whole site offers a small development of redundant land, involving minimal tree 
cutting, and is well tucked away in an urban area of similar developments, therefore not 
encroaching on surrounding countryside 

 It is ideally located within a short walking distance along a pavemented road where there 
are comprehensive amenities including bus stops for both Alton and Winchester (ideal for 
onward journeys by rail), and for local shops, services, surgeries, pharmacy etc. Chawton 
Park Woods on the doorsteps for wildlife /leisure etc. 

Determining Issues 
 
1.  Principle of development 
   - 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
2.   Sustainability  
3.   Impact on the character of area 
4.   Impact on neighbouring amenity 

5.   Impact on highway/parking 
6.   Affordable housing and mix 
7.   Impact on trees/Green infrastructure 
8.   Impact on ecology 
9.   Flooding and drainage 
10. Sustainable Construction 
11. Developer Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
12. The Planning Balance 
13. Conclusion 
 
Principle of development 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compensation Act 2004 requires that where a development 
plan is in force decision makers should determine in accordance with the plan unless other 
material consideration indicate otherwise.  The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
(NPPF) applies a presumption in favour of sustainable development whereby Local Planning 
Authorities (LPA) should approve development that accords with the development plan, or 
where the applicable policies are out of date, granting permission unless any adverse impacts 
of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  The Development 
Plan, as listed earlier in this report, is up to date and relevant in the determination of this 
application.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



The proposed development is for new residential development on a site located outside the 
settlement boundary for Four Marks/South Medstead. In policy terms, policies CP2, (Spatial 
Strategy), CP10 (Spatial Strategy for Housing) and CP19 (Development in the Countryside) of 
the East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy (June 2014; hereafter: the JCS) are especially 
relevant in determining the acceptability in principle of this proposal, alongside Policy 1 of the 
Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan 2015-2028, which was made in January 
2016. 
   
The spatial strategy for the district set out in Policy CP2 directs new development growth in 
the period up to 2028 to the most sustainable and accessible locations in the district in 
accordance with the hierarchy of settlements. Four Marks/South Medstead is identified as a 
Level 3 small local service centre having a more limited range of services and are suitable 
locations to accommodate some new but modest development to meet local needs for 
housing … to secure their continuing vitality and ensure thriving communities.  
 
Policy CP10 sets out a housing specific spatial strategy which for Four Marks/South 
Medstead explains that allocations will be made for a minimum of 175 dwellings over the plan 
period. The policy makes clear that sites for housing will be identified through the Allocations 
Plan, the SDLP or neighbourhood plans, with settlement policy boundaries being adjusted in 
response to newly made allocations. Policy CP10 further advises that, in addition to site 
allocations and development that accords with Policies CP14 (affordable housing for rural 
communities) and CP19 (development in the countryside), development outside settlement 
boundaries will only be permitted where it: meets a community need or realises local 
community aspirations; reinforces a settlement’s role and function; cannot be accommodated 
within a built up area; and has been identified in a made neighbourhood plan or has clear 
community support.  
 
The site, lying outside the settlement boundary for Four Marks/South Medstead, is therefore 
within the countryside for the purposes of the development plan, having not been allocated for 
housing or other purposes under the provisions of the Allocations Plan or the neighbourhood 
plan.  The proposal therefore falls to be considered against the provisions of Policy CP19 of 
the JCS, which restricts development to that ‘… with a genuine and proven need for a 
countryside location, such as that necessary for farming, forestry, or other rural enterprises 
(see Policy CP6) …’. Policy CP6 identifies various permissible developments in the 
countryside, none of which are relevant in this instance. In the absence of any support being 
provided by Policy CP6 nor the development having a genuine and proven need for a 
countryside location, it is therefore contrary to Policy CP19. 
  
Policy CP19 is consistent with the NPPF and has found to be so at appeals in the district not 
least by the appeal inspector when dismissing the previous appeal for residential 
development on this same site in 2019.  In response to the appellant contending that Policy 
CP19 imposes a blanket ban on development and therefore inconsistent with the NPPF, the 
Inspector found this not to be the case particularly in view of the large number of dwellings 
that have been granted permission outside the settlement boundary in the local area.  Policy 
CP10 identifies a need to provide a minimum of 175 dwellings between 2011 and 2028 for 
Four Marks/South Medstead.  
 

Page 34



However, the appeal inspector noted that since 2011 close to 400 dwellings had been granted 
planning permission in the Four Marks/South Medstead area which is a number more than 
double the minimum target of 175 dwellings identified in the policy.  Consequently, the 
inspector stated that the policy had not been operating as a bar to development within the 
countryside but instead there had been a sustained period of housing delivery locally far 
exceeding the minimum housing target.  Then, and now, the policy cannot be viewed as being 
inconsistent with the NPPF but instead great weight should be attached to it.     
 
The principle of development is not supported and the proposal conflicts with policies CP2, 
CP10 and CP19 of the East Hampshire District Council Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and 
the thrust of Policy 1 of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
5 Year Housing Land Supply 
 
The NPPF at para 74 requires local planning authorities to identify and update each year a 
supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of 
housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies, or against 
their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years old.  Para 75 
explains that the five year supply can be set out in a recently adopted plan or in a subsequent 
annual position statement. 
 

The Council's annual position statement is published each September and so the most recent 
figures are those in the annual position statement of September 2021. The information on 
housing completions and outstanding commitments is compiled by Hampshire County Council 
on behalf of all Hampshire local planning authorities and all data is derived from Building 
Control and NHBC reports, and then verified by site visits. The calculations within the report 
reflect the five-year housing land supply period from 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2026. 
Based on the housing delivery test, East Hampshire is required to apply a 5% buffer to the 
housing requirement. 
 
The East Hampshire Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement published in 
September 2021 demonstrates that the local planning authority can identify 5.74 years of 
housing land supply, equivalent to a surplus of 357 dwellings.   
 
The current planning application was accompanied by a report dated December 2020 which 
sets out the applicant's assessment of housing land supply in the district based on the 
Council's position statement of 2020. This was then corrected with a revised report submitted 
by the applicant dated October 2021.  Their assessment disputes the Council's published 
position statement and concludes that in their assessment the housing land supply position is 
at around 4.25 years, a shortfall of 393 dwellings. 
 
A similar argument was put forward by the applicants during the previously dismissed scheme 
whereby the appellant claimed that the Council could only demonstrate a 4 year HLS. In 
dismissing the appeal the Inspector dealt with the issue of housing land supply at paragraphs 
71 to 87 of his decision.  
 

Page 35



His conclusion did not provide a definitive view on the actual supply purely because, in his 
calculations, once he had reached a clear 5.3 year supply he stopped counting and didn't feel 
it necessary to continue to focus on two other key sites as the 5 year HLS position had been 
demonstrated (para 86).  The subsequent conclusion was that EHDC could demonstrate a 
5yr HLS and therefore its housing supply policies were not out-of-date for the purposes of the 
determination of that appeal and that it should be determined in accordance with the 
development plan as a whole, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
Clearly, that was the position then and consideration needs to be given to the situation now. 
Significantly, the release of the updated affordability ratio in late March this year will have an 
impact on HLS positions.  In accordance with the NPPF, the Council undertakes and 
publishes its HLS position statement annually in September and this involves significant time 
and resources on behalf of the county council and district council officers to put this together. 
It is not something that can be undertaken in response to each and every planning application 
submitted.  However, there is a need to assess the implications of the affordability ratio uplift.   
 
The affordability ratio was 12.58 for East Hampshire meaning a housing requirement of 
598dpa. The change has increased the affordability ratio to 14.51 for the district which would 
equate to an increased housing requirement of 632dpa.   
 
The applicant has recently submitted their own assessment of the likely impact this change to 
the affordability ratio might have on the Council's HLS (updated report dated April 2022).  As 
their report states they have not sought to update their 5 Yr HLS position but they have set 
out three scenarios (one core scenario and two alternative test scenarios).  Based on the 
Council's supply position their three scenarios range from a HLS of 4.77 years to 5.34 years. 
Based on their own consideration of supply, their three scenarios range from 3.81 years to 
4.27 years.   
 
In line with the Council’s supply position (September 2021), it is considered that there remains 

in excess of 5 years housing supply when taking into account the effect increased affordability 

ratios will have on the local housing need.  

Mention has also been made in the applicant's recently updated HLS report of the knock-on 
effect on housing supply arising from Natural England's updated position on applicable 
developments achieving nutrient neutrality. However, whilst the application site is not affected 
by this (it is not within the catchment area for the Solent or the Itchen), the matter is being 
addressed for parts of the district that fall within the Solent catchment area and a way forward 
has been found. As a result, the matter is not anticipated to materially affect housing supply.   
 
The Council can demonstrate a sufficient five-year housing land supply, therefore, the 
appropriate Joint Core Strategy (JCS) policies for housing are considered up to date and the 
'tilted balance' is not engaged.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



Sustainability 
 
As mentioned earlier, Policy CP2 identifies Four Marks/South Medstead as a Level 3 'small 
local service centre' having a more limited range of services and are suitable locations to 
accommodate some new but modest development to meet local needs for housing … to 
secure their continuing vitality and ensure thriving communities. 
 
Policy CP10 explains that, in addition to the specific housing numbers allocated in the policy, 
housing developments outside settlement boundaries can be permitted but only where it 
meets a community need or realises local community aspirations; reinforces a settlement’s 
role and function; cannot be accommodated within a built-up area; and has been identified in 
a made neighbourhood plan or has clear community support.  
This is a fundamental principal of sustainable development.  
 
The NPPF at paragraph 9 requires decision making to "play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances 
into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area." 
 
In terms of how sustainable a development this would be, the planning balance at the end of 
this report will conclude on this matter. However, in terms assessing the spatial strategy 
requirements of Policy CP10, it is worth touching upon the comments made by the Appeal 
Inspector in 2019 which remain a material consideration and still applicable to the proposed 
development of this site.   
 
The Inspector noted that the site adjoins established and new housing and in that regard 
future occupiers would have a similar level of accessibility to everyday services and facilities 
and some bus services.  The degree of reliance on car usage compared with other modes of 
transport for the occupiers of the development would be likely to be comparable with that of 
the occupiers of other nearby dwellings, including those in the adjacent and recent 
development to the south.  The Inspector considered that while in accessibility terms this site 
would not be the best for additional housing, it is unobjectionable in those terms given the 
proximity of other established and recent housing in the area.   
 

Given the recent rate of housing delivery in Four Marks/South Medstead, the Inspector 
considered it unsurprising that the two parish councils and local residents were concerned 
about the amount of new housing that has been built and any implications that has for the role 
and functioning of the area. The Inspector considered the provision of further housing alone, 
on what would in effect be an unplanned basis, would not be conducive to the reinforcement 
of Four Marks/South Medstead’s role and function as a small local service centre providing a 
limited range of services. On top of this was the concern over infrastructure lagging behind 
housing provision. These concerns have again been raised by third parties for the current 
proposal.   
 

The Appeal Inspector found that the development of the site did not find any particular 
support under Policy CP10, given the minimum identified housing requirement of 175 
dwellings for Four Marks/South Medstead had already been greatly exceeded.   
 

Page 37



Furthermore, he concluded that there would be a clear conflict with Policies CP10 and CP19 
of the JCS given that the development would concern housing on an unallocated site in the 
countryside and as the development was not required in order to maintain the vitality and 
viability of the existing community, he considered there to be some conflict with Policy CP2 of 
the JCS. 
 
Nothing has changed in the interim to allow the Council to deviate from these observations.  
The fact that the scheme now proposed is slightly fewer in housing numbers wouldn't alter the 
conclusions drawn by the Appeal Inspector.  The locational sustainability in terms of proximity 
and access to local facilities and the likely reliance on the use of the private car would not be 
reasons to withhold planning permission. However, the ability of the small local service centre 
to absorb more housing weighs against the sustainability of the proposal. 
  
On this key point of sustainable development, the previous Appeal Inspector is not alone in 
dismissing housing schemes in the local area due to concerns over the impact more housing 
would have on the role and function of the small local service area. Three other housing 
proposals have been dismissed in recent years due to Inspectors having found harm in terms 
of the additional pressures upon the settlement, noting the limited provision of services and 
facilities. 
 

For Land West of Boyneswood Rd (Appeal ref APP/M1710/W/16/3154870) the Inspector 
dismissed an appeal for a much smaller housing scheme (17 units), in close proximity to the 
current application site, partly due to concerns over the ability of the settlement to 
accommodate the proposed housing numbers. He stated:   
 
"The population of the settlement is already large for its designation and whilst there are local 
services available as identified by the appellant, the overall level of services is fairly limited. 
The development plan strategy seeks to provide for sustainable development, seeking to 
ensure that land is brought forward for development to meet housing need in a sustainable 
manner so that it is supported by the necessary infrastructure and provides for protection of 
the countryside. Given that there are already permissions in place to take new housing well 
beyond the identified figure, the resulting implications for local infrastructure weighs against 
the sustainability credentials of the proposal."  
 
He concluded: 
 
"The proposed development would not amount to sustainable development having regard to 
the housing need, the location of the majority of the site outside of the settlement boundary 
and the ability of the settlement to accommodate the proposed housing numbers."   
 
In addition, another Appeal Inspector when considering a 17 house scheme on land at 5 
Blackberry Lane and 32 Telegraph Lane, Four Marks, Alton, (APP/M1710/W/15/3012061) 
dismissed the appeal for similar reasons, citing:  
 
 
 

Page 38



"The recent approvals and significant level of growth that will be experienced by this small 
settlement...would significantly exceed the expectations of the JCS over the whole 
of the plan period.  
 
This is likely to put significant pressure on the limited infrastructure that is available at such a 
small centre and reduce its ability to absorb additional development in a measured and 
planned manner. The definition of the size of settlements in part relates to the amenities and 
facilities that are available. I note in this regard that this settlement no longer has all of the 
facilities it previously had and which were required to justify its identification as a small local 
service centre, including a pub. I also note that the population is significantly higher than is 
suggested in those criteria and that school places are under pressure." 
 
A further appeal decision of relevance is Land to the North of The Telephone Exchange, 
Lymington Bottom Road, Medstead (APP/M1710/W/15/3134150) where a 10 house scheme 
was dismissed on a similar theme:  
 
"The additional 175 dwellings to be provided across the plan period was the subject of a 
sustainability appraisal. The fact that this target has been met and substantially exceeded 
early in the plan period demonstrates the pressure that the settlement is under, and which is 
likely to continue. The small level of services that are within the village are under significant 
pressure given the size of the settlement and the pace of increase at this point in time. This 
adds to the pressure on services and facilities"      
 
The conclusion reached was: 
 
"The proposal would not be sustainably located and the development would add to additional 
burdens on the settlement which would not be fully mitigated by the proposals and 
compromise the settlements ability to absorb new development."  
 
Therefore, the impact of further housing on its own, without evidence of community support or 
need, would have a greater impact on the limited range of services found locally and, as the 
previous Appeal Inspector found, would not be conducive to the reinforcement of Four 
Marks/South Medstead’s role and function as a small local service centre.  The proposal 
therefore would conflict with the allowance under policies CP2 and CP10, for only modest 
development to be allowed to meet housing, employment, community services and 
infrastructure.  
 
Impact on the character of area 
 
Policy CP20 of the JCS seeks to conserve and enhance the special characteristics of the 
districts natural environment. It sets out a list of criteria that new development will be required 
to meet. 
 
Policy CP29 of the JCS requires all new development to respect the character, identity and 
context of the district’s towns, villages and countryside.  It also sets out a list of criteria that 
new development will be required to meet. 

Page 39



The proposal would see the erection of 45 dwellings, internal access roads and parking areas 
on a site which is currently undeveloped paddock land, bordered by Chawton Park Wood to 
the north, plantation woodland to the east and residential development to the south and west. 
Clearly such development of the land would have a significant impact on the established open 
character of the site by urbanising the appearance of the land. However, the degree to which 
this change would harm the character of the area needs closer inspection.   
 
The Council's Landscape Character Assessment places the site in the Four Marks Clay 
Plateau landscape character area and forms a pocket of tranquil rural landscape despite the 
density of the surrounding development. The landscape strategy for this character area is to 
'conserve the current density of settlement, quiet roads and consequent peaceful and in 
places rural character of the landscape.' 
 
The woodlands which exist to the north and east, together with residential development to the 
south and west, results in the site having an enclosed nature with very limited views of it from 
further afield.  A public footpath runs along the northern boundary of the site (Chawton Wood) 
but is screened from it by mature trees and woodland.  In addition, the existing planting in the 
north east of the application site would be retained, albeit with a footpath snaking through 
linking the woods to the proposed dwellings. Views of the development from the public 
footpath to the north will be possible but limited only to filtered views. Therefore, whilst the 
development wouldn't conserve the rural character of the landscape, as the Landscape 
Character Assessment requires, its effects on the wider landscape would be minimal.    
 
Despite this, occupants of properties to the south and west of the site would undoubtedly be 
impacted by the visual change in the appearance of the site, most notably from Boyneswood 
Close, Brackenbury Gardens, Thornybush Gardens, Friars Oak and Holland Drive.  
 
The proposed layout portrays a suburban form with small and uniformly sized plots laid out in 
a fairly regimented fashion with dwellings fronting the internal access roads and parking 
generally contained to the side of each property.  Relatively unappetising 1.8m tall brick walls 
would feature as urban hard landscaped boundaries "in the most visible locations adjacent to 
the public realm" (Design and Access Statement), albeit with some softened through low level 
shrub planting in front. The western part of the site would suffer with instances of structured 
lines of housing lending a rather dominant unrelieved frontage of built form. The affordable 
housing units are shown to be concentrated together as opposed to blended across the 
development.  Street frontages would see precious few 'green gaps' between dwellings, 
instead buildings would be separated from each other only by their areas of 
hardstanding/parking. The layout, form and certain characteristics would reinforce the more 
suburban design traits as opposed to a softer and more responsive semi- rural character.          
 
Nevertheless, the scheme is broadly comparable in layout, scale and massing to the 
illustrative drawings submitted as part of the outline scheme seen at appeal previously for 58 
units. It also doesn't significantly depart from the characteristics of the adjacent development 
to the south with which it would have a close association.   
 

Page 40



Since the determination of both schemes, it could be argued that the extra impetus given to 
raising design standards as promoted in last year's revised NPPF might be a material change 
in policy (as opposed to a theoretical desire).  However, the fewer number of units now 
proposed on this site together with a corresponding perception of each plot being marginally 
more generous, indicates that withholding permission on design grounds is not warranted.   
This is further reinforced by the two storey nature of the dwellings, together with two x single 
storey units at the site entrance, which would reflect the scale and mass of neighbouring 
development.  The proposed palette of external materials would comprise concrete roof tiles, 
brick, tile and white boarding elevations, which again would mimic the development 
immediately to the south.         
 
The previous appeal was not dismissed due to the impact the development would have on the 
character of the area.  The Inspector considered the outline proposal and stated: 
 
"There would be an obvious change in the character and appearance of the area, with a piece 
of undeveloped land becoming urbanised. So, while there would be some harm to the 
character and appearance of the area, that would be of a highly localised and modest nature, 
which would be capable of being mitigated through the imposition of planning conditions........  
there would be no conflict with Policy CP20 and CP29 of the JCS because there would be no 
loss of any natural features contributing to the distinctive character of the district’s landscape 
and the development would not be unsympathetic of its setting, given its scale and likely 
density." 
   
With clear similarities in approach to design and layout as portrayed in the appeal then the 
same assessment would apply to this proposal in this regard.  
 
There would be harm to the immediate character and appearance of the area by urbanising 
the land and this impact would be felt most readily by those residing immediately to the west 
of the site and to a lesser degree to the south. However, that harm would almost entirely be 
contained in the local area.  Subject to conditions seeking more appropriate and less harsh 
boundary treatments and additional native planting on boundaries to better cushion the 
development, the proposal would accord with policies CP20 and CP29.           
  
Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
The ability of a development to be absorbed into its local setting without detriment to existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings is a key consideration for any development, 
particularly where a new housing scheme is proposed to abut the boundaries of existing and 
established residential properties. This is naturally a requirement to achieve environmental 
and social sustainability and highlighted in the NPPF with reference to ensuring development 
provides a high standard of amenity for existing and future users (para 170f).        
 

The density of built development proposed is broadly comparable with the recent 
development to the south and also the more established properties to the west These are the 
two most sensitive boundaries to consider.   
 

 

Page 41



On the western boundary the development would approach the properties at the eastern 
extent of four cul-de-sacs accessed off Boyneswood Road (Boyneswood Close, Brackenbury 
Gardens, Thornybush Gardens and Friars Oak).  The back-to-back separation distances 
between the closest existing dwellings here and the new dwellings would be between 22m to 
25m. Where topography is generally level, as in this case, such a separation distance is 
commonly accepted as being appropriate. However, the one area of concern is the impact 
that first floor windows in the rear of plots 10 & 11 might have on the residential amenity 
currently enjoyed by occupants of 9a Boyneswood Close. The boundary here is relatively 
open and there is scope for harmful overlooking to occur into this neighbouring garden.  The 
landscaping treatment proposed for this boundary comprises the retention of existing shrub 
planting which is insufficient to address the concern highlighted. To remedy this, a condition 
should be imposed to provide a more effective planting screen along this western boundary of 
the site.  
 
The other sensitive boundary of the site would be where the access into the site is gained, to 
the south. Two single storey dwellings on the site to the south occupy a position where the 
road would continue to the north to serve the 45 dwellings proposed. The impact of comings 
and goings of additional vehicles serving the new dwellings would clearly have an impact on 
the occupants of these two bungalows.  However, the bungalows would not front this road but 
would be side-on with it.  There would nonetheless be some harm for these occupants 
through increased noise and disturbance emanating from vehicles travelling past where 
currently only limited numbers of vehicle movements frequent this existing termination point at 
the site to the south. There would be a need to provide suitable boundary planting at this point 
to mitigate the impact of additional vehicles on these two existing bungalows and the 
applicant may well have sufficient control over this land to warrant the imposition of a planting 
scheme via a condition to address this concern.   
 
In terms of the relationship between the proposed dwellings on the southern boundary and 
the existing dwellings beyond, either sufficient distances exist or the perpendicular 
arrangement would avoid an adverse impact in this regard.       
 

Finally, the separation distances and layout of dwellings within the proposed site would be 
appropriate to maintain adequate amenity levels for future occupants. Furthermore, the 
internal space standards of rooms within the proposed dwellings would adhere to the 
nationally described space standards for housing.   
 
As such, notwithstanding the landscaping details submitted, with an appropriately enhanced 
and targeted planting scheme secured by condition, the proposed development would not 
unduly harm the residential amenity for existing and future occupants locally. As such, the 
proposal would accord with the NPPF and policies CP27 and CP29 of the JCS.      
 

Impact on highway/parking 
 
Policy CP31 of the Joint Core Strategy requires, amongst other objectives, that new 

development should be located and designed to reduce the need to travel. Development that 

is likely to generate a significant number of additional vehicular movements will normally be 

expected to be located near existing centres and supportive infrastructure.   

Page 42



The Council’s SPD: Vehicle Parking Standards is also relevant and this sets out the parking 

standards for residential development.  

 
The development would see the creation of 45 additional dwellings.  

A footpath link is proposed at the northern end of the site exiting into Chawton Park Wood 

and future residents could also make use of an existing cycle/footpath through Friars Oak on 

the land to the south. Vehicular access into the site would be through the recent development 

to the south utilising its access point onto Boyneswood Road. A short distance to the south of 

that access, Boyneswood Road crosses a railway line by means of a narrow bridge with no 

pedestrian footpath.  At a short distance this then leads to the junction with the A31 

Winchester Road. 

 

The impact of additional dwellings and the consequential increase in vehicles on the local 

roads, in particular Boyneswood Road, its narrow single lane bridge and the junction with the 

A31 Winchester Road, has been and remains a highly significant issue for local residents.  

This is evident through the third party objections received for this proposal.  Hampshire 

County Council, in their capacity as County Highway Authority (CHA), has reviewed the 

proposed development. 

 

Parking Provision  

 

In terms of parking provision, the adopted vehicle parking standards SPD requires the 

development provide 89 long term spaces (for occupants) and a further 9 visitor spaces, 

totalling 95 spaces.  The development would provide 115 space which is a modest oversupply 

but which would accord with the thrust of the adopted parking standards, being as they are 

minimum standards.   

 

Travel Plan 

 

A residential travel plan framework has been submitted by the applicant setting out proposed 

measures to reduce the number of unnecessary vehicular trips by car through initiatives 

aimed at reducing the need to travel, promoting alternative means of transport and linked 

trips.  The CHA is generally supportive but recommends amendments/additions to the 

document.  This could be secured through a condition. 

 

Site Accessibility 

 

In terms of the site's accessibility, the CHA is satisfied that the facilities available locally would 
be within a walkable and cyclable distance although insufficient information has been 
provided on the existing walking and cycling infrastructure beyond Boyneswood Road to 
understand whether they are conducive for encouraging sustainable transport. The CHA 
notes that trips to schools would be heavily reliant on the use of the private car.  In terms of 
public transport, the nearest bus stops to the site are located on the A31, approximately a 
walk of 880m to the northbound service and 940m walk to the southbound service.   

Page 43



Two buses every hour travel to Alton and Winchester.      
 
Trip Generation and Distribution 
 
The CHA had previously agreed with the applicant to the use of the trip rates accepted as part 
of the recent development to the south for use in the assessment for the current application. 
In this context, the proposed development is forecast to generate 26 two-way trips in the AM 
peak hour and 22 trips in the PM peak hour. These trips have subsequently been distributed 
onto the network based on the surveyed traffic flows undertaken at the site access following 
occupation of the first phase of development in 2019. The CHA considers this approach to be 
acceptable. 
 
Junction Modelling 
 
The applicant has modelled the Site Access junction and A31/Boyneswood Road junction 
with development traffic to understand the capacity implications on the local highway network.  
The applicant has modelled the junction to a 2021 base year and 2026 future year scenario.  
To derive the traffic flows under these scenarios, the applicant has uplifted the 2019 traffic 
surveys by utilising the TEMPRO database. The CHA considers the future year modelling 
scenarios and uplift methodology as acceptable. 
 
Site Access onto Boyneswood Road 
 
Under the 2026 future year scenario, the site access onto Boyneswood Road is forecast to 
operate within design capacity in the future year scenario with the addition of traffic from this 
development.  
 
The A31/Boyneswood Rd Junction at the previous appeal  
 
As part of the unilateral undertaking offered by the applicant during the previous appeal, 
£200,000 would have been provided as a highway contribution towards either undertaking 
junction improvement works where Boyneswood Road meets the A31 Winchester Road, or 
towards the funding of a footpath towards the primary school in the village of Medstead. 
 
The Inspector concluded, however, that there was information to indicate that the necessary 
funding might already be available to the CHA to undertake a junction improvement scheme.  
Therefore, the obligation in the applicant's UU relating to this contribution carried little weight 
as a claimed benefit of the scheme.  
 
That assessment by the Inspector was in relation to whether the financial contributions set out 
in the applicant's UU were necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms. 
Since the dismissed appeal, the applicant has engaged with the CHA prior to the submission 
of this application with both parties agreeing that a mitigation scheme is required at the 
junction to address the needs of this development.   
 
 

Page 44



A31/Boyneswood Road Junction 
 
Previous modelling work for the A31/Boyneswood Road junction was informed by traffic 
surveys undertaken in 2013. It has been established and accepted by the CHA that these 
surveys incorrectly recorded the eastbound vehicle flow along the A31 and therefore the 
results are not appropriate for use within junction modelling assessments. Instead, updated 
traffic surveys were undertaken at the junction in 2019 which have been used as the basis for 
the junction modelling in the applicant's Transport Statement.  
 
The modelling indicates that in the 2021 base year, the junction will be operating at a ratio of 
flow to capacity (RFC) of 0.93 in the AM peak hour on the Boyneswood Road approach, with 
corresponding queue lengths of 6.7 vehicles and a 138 second delay.  
 
In the PM peak hour the Boyneswood Road arm operates at a 0.82 RFC with a queue of 3.5 
vehicles and delay of 105.86 seconds. Based on the modelling, the CHA confirms the 
Boyneswood Road arm of the junction is approaching design capacity in both the AM and PM 
peak hours in the baseline scenario.  
 
With the addition of traffic from this development, the operation of the Boyneswood Road 
approach worsens to a RFC of 1.01 in the AM peak hour, with a 10.1 vehicle queue and 
187.63 second delay, meaning the junction would be operating over capacity. In the PM peak 
hour the approach would operate at a RFC of 0.86 and would therefore be over theoretical 
design capacity.  
 
In the 2026 future year scenario, the RFCs increase to 1.24 in the AM peak hour and 1.14 in 
the PM peak hour on the Boyneswood Road approach. The RFCs therefore increase by 0.08 
and 0.06 in the respective peak hours with the addition of traffic from the proposed 
development, corresponding to queues of 25.2 and 13.8 vehicles and delays of 414.79 and 
331.93 seconds. The addition of traffic from the development therefore worsens the operation 
of the junction and results in an unacceptable impact on the local highway network. 
 
Both the applicant and CHA therefore agree the A31/Boyneswood Road junction is over 
capacity in 2021 with no development and the junction would be well over its theoretical 
design capacity in 2026 without any traffic associated with this development added.  When 
traffic from this proposal is added the delays would be increased.  
 
A31/Boyneswood Road Mitigation Measures  
 
To mitigate the impact of the proposed development the applicant has presented an 
improvement scheme at the A31/Boyneswood Road junction consisting of the provision of a 
pedestrian island along with a revised tactile crossing location achieved via the realignment of 
the existing footway on the western side of the road.  These measures would be funded and 
constructed by the applicant and secured through a S.278 agreement with the CHA and 
would attempt to bring forward improvements in capacity terms but also safety for pedestrians 
crossing the bellmouth.     
                               

Page 45



The CHA has assessed the submission and is unclear how a capacity benefit would be 
achieved at the junction from the improvement scheme presented.  Whilst the scheme would 
improve the crossing facilities for pedestrians, it does not provide the necessary width for two 
vehicles to wait side by side on the junction approach.  
 
Without provision of additional road width for cars to wait side by side, or an alternative 
mitigation proposal, little capacity benefit would be gained in actuality to mitigate the impact of 
the development. As such, the CHA does not consider that the improvement scheme would 
achieve the stated capacity benefits and without a suitable mitigation scheme, the proposed 
development would exacerbate the severe level of queuing and delay highlighted at the 
A31/Boyneswood Road junction under the future year modelling.  
 
The LPA has been made aware that the applicant subsequently engaged directly with the 
CHA to address their concerns raised. The LPA was not party to these discussions nor was 
any submission made to formally amend the planning submission in this regard.  The 
applicant provided the CHA with more information on walking and cycling facilities in the local 
area and also an explanation that the performance of the junction with their proposed junction 
improvement measures undertaken would be comparable to the performance of the existing 
junction without the development in 2026.        
 
The CHA is not satisfied that this would be the case, nor that the measures put forward would 
sufficiently mitigate the impact of the proposed development itself and has confirmed their 
continued objection to the proposed scheme.  
 
As such, the proposed development would not comply with Policy CP31 (K) in that the 
development would not include measures that address the impact of the new development so 
as to ensure the continued safe and efficient operation of the strategic and local road 
networks. It would also conflict with Paragraph 111 of the NPPF in that the development 
would result in a severe cumulative harm on the network. Securing the necessary off-site 
highways works would be through a planning obligation.   
 
Affordable housing  
 
Policy CP13 of the JCS requires applicable development proposals to provide a range of 
affordable housing types and sizes according to the local community need. The expected 
target is 40% of the total number of units proposed.      
 
When considering the weight to be given to the provision of affordable housing during the last 
appeal, the Inspector found that due to significant levels of provision having already made 
locally, the additional affordable units would not be in response to a local need.  
Consequently, it was found that the policy compliant affordable housing provision, rather than 
carrying great weight, instead amounted to modest weight. 
 
It is certainly true that the local area has seen significant levels of housing provision recently, 
including affordable housing provision.   

Page 46



However, the most recent assessment shows that there is an affordable housing need in the 
local area. This information is obtained from the number of applicants with a local connection 
who have registered on Hampshire Home Choice (HHC) and Help to Buy South (HTBS).  The 
provision is warranted and the mix proposed (from one bed maisonettes to four bedroom 
houses) reflects the need and provides a good range of dwelling size as envisaged by CP13 
of the JCS.  However, what is absent from the application is the proposed tenure mix of 
affordable units, although such a matter could be addressed as part of the planning 
obligation. 
 

Impact on Trees/Green Infrastructure 
 
Policy CP20 (Landscape) of the JCS seeks to conserve and enhance the District's natural 
environment by protecting and enhancing natural and historic features which contribute to the 
distinctive character of the district’s landscape, such as trees, woodlands, hedgerows, soils, 
rivers, river corridors, ditches, ponds, ancient sunken lanes, ancient tracks, rural buildings and 
open areas. Policy CP20 also seeks to maintain, manage and enhance the green 
infrastructure networks in-line with Policy CP28 (Green Infrastructure) of the Local Plan: 
Green Infrastructure. This is also reflected in Policy 10 of the Medstead and Four Marks 
Neighbourhood Plan which deals with Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity.   
 
The application proposes a local area of play (LAP) to be sited on the former sewage 
treatment plant on the development to the south. This would provide some level of additional 
public open space to support the increase in population in this part of South Medstead. 
 
A community building or an area of open space on the same land was offered by the 
applicant in a unilateral undertaking to support their previous appeal.  The Inspector 
commented that there was very little local support for the community land being transferred to 
the Council and that given its location and size it would in practice be of limited utility to the 
wider communities of Medstead and Four Marks. The main reason being the extensive 
Forestry Commission owned Chawton Park Wood so close at hand and which would likely be 
a much bigger draw for residents of the wider local area. 
 
Nevertheless, the proposed LAP would be provided as part of this scheme and no objection is 
raised in this regard.  
 
The site has a number of boundary trees and neighbouring trees close by. The application is 
supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Arboricultural Report. The applicant 
has confirmed that 15 trees/shrubs would need to be removed to facilitate the development of 
these and that of these, 8 constitute very small specimens. None of the trees/shrubs are 
worthy of retention and all of them have low bat roost potential.     
 
The Council's Tree Officer and the County Ecologist have assessed the details and raise no 
objection, providing a condition is imposed to require the submission and approval of an 
Arboricultural Method Statement/Tree Protection Plan prior to commencement. As such, the 
proposal would accord with Policies CP20 and CP28 of the JCS and Policy 10 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  

Page 47



Impact on Ecology 
 
Policy CP21 (Biodiversity) requires development proposals to maintain, enhance and protect 
the District’s biodiversity and its surrounding environment, by protecting and, where 
appropriate, strengthen populations of protected species and ensure wildlife enhancements 
are incorporated into the design, amongst other factors. In addition, the NPPF requires 
planning decisions to contribute and enhance the natural and local environment. 
 
The site comprises a single field of semi-improved grassland containing an area of scrub 
habitat in the south-west, an area of wooded habitat in the north and is situated immediately 
adjacent to Chawton Park Wood Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) and 
another area of plantation woodland to the east.  
 
The application was originally accompanied by an Ecological Appraisal (The Ecology Co-op, 
September 2021) which highlighted that the site supports a variety of foraging and commuting 
bat species, including the scarce Western Barbastelle. Mitigation measures needed include: 
 

 Populations of common reptiles (slow worm, grass snake and adder) have been identified 
within the site. A suitable receptor site will need to be identified and a trapping 

      and translocation programme implemented. 
 

 Foraging/commuting by at least seven species of bat have been recorded within the site. 
Of particular note is the presence of barbastelle Barbastella barbastellus which is a rare 
species and is also listed on Annex II of the Habitat Regulations 2019. A sensitive lighting 
scheme, incorporating ‘no light zones’/dark corridors around the peripheries of the 
development will also be necessary to prevent disturbance to bats and dormice  

 
In terms of the proposed biodiversity enhancements, the development would undertake: 
 

 Provision and annual maintenance of a landscape buffer strip to the east 

 Planting of at least 85 native trees 

 Incorporation of integrated bird nesting features on the new dwellings 

 Installation of bird boxes for woodland species such as tawny owls and great spotted 
     woodpecker as well as common garden birds within the site’s boundaries 

 Incorporation of integrated bat roosting features within new buildings, as well as tree-
mounted within the woodland boundaries 

 Installation of at least ten hedgehog homes/nest boxes within gardens of the new 
development 

 Installation of insect towers upon trees 
 
The Council's Ecologist assessed the ecology report and requested that further information be 
submitted relating to additional bat survey information, clarification on the exact number of 
trees to be removed, the actual tree removal works themselves, the extent of external lighting 
proposed and the management of the proposed landscape/ecological buffer strip to the east.    
An amended Ecological Appraisal (The Ecology Co-op, December 2021) was submitted and 
provided additional information on several issues.   

Page 48



However, it was still unclear how many trees were to be removed/affected and whether those 
corresponded to the trees assessed as offering bat roosting potential.  The number of trees to 
be removed conflicted with the applicant's arboricultural report. 
  
A further amended Ecological Appraisal (February 2022) was submitted together with a letter 
of response to the Council's Ecologist (dated 14 Feb 2022).  This established that 15 trees 
would be removed from the land in total all having negligible bat roosting potential.   
 
Following concerns raised, the applicant agreed that the buffer zone along the eastern site 
boundary will be given over to natural regeneration as opposed to the grassland creation with 
associated sowing and management as recommended within the ecology report.  
 
The Council's Ecologist is now content with these measures. He is also content with the 
significant increase in the number of biodiversity enhancement features comprising 60 nest 
boxes for Common Swift and House Sparrow, 45 bat roosting units and a number of other 
nest boxes for woodland bird species. However, two areas of concern remain. The first 
relates to the uncertainty on the external lighting proposed for the site and the impact this 
might have on flying bat species and the likely presence of roosting bats and Hazel Dormice 
within adjacent wooded areas. The second issue relates to the concern that the ecological 
mitigation and enhancement measures relating to the adjacent Friars Oak development 
immediately to the south, have not been implemented.   
 
The latter point cannot be addressed as part of this application but will be investigated under 
other regulatory powers. The concern over external lighting and the effectiveness of the 
proposed dark buffer is noted.  Clearly, more information is required to ensure that any 
external lighting plan/layout is appropriate in this regard, and is a matter than could be 
secured through a condition.            
 

Subject to the implementation of the recommendations set out in the ecological reports and 
confirmation of the lighting strategy, the scheme would therefore accord with Policy CP21 of 
the JCS. 
 
Flooding and drainage 
 
Policy CP25 (Flood Risk) seeks to ensure development does not increase the risk of flooding 
to people and property, in ensuring development is located on the appropriate sites and there 
is no net increase in surface water run-off from the site.  
 
The applicant submitted a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy report, dated 
December 2020 which has been considered by the Council's Drainage Consultant and the 
County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority.  
 
Surface Water Disposal  
 
The site is in Flood Zone 1 (low risk of flooding) and is not affected by potential surface water 
flooding.  
 

Page 49



Run-off calculations for the 1:100 year + 40% climate change event have been provided 
within the report together with site investigation and percolation test results for the recent 
development to the south. Due to the underlying ground conditions shallow soakaways would 
prove ineffective for discharging of surface water.  Therefore, the drainage strategy proposes 
the use of deep bore soakaways, subject to approval by the Environment Agency.  
 

Foul Water Disposal 
 
The nearest public foul sewer is located 300m away along Winchester Road (A31).   
 
The proposed strategy is for foul drainage to be gravity fed into the system on the 
development to the south. Once there, the foul drainage will be contained in a pumping 
station where it will be pumped to Boyneswood Road and then gravity fed to the existing 
Thames Water sewer in Winchester Road (A31).      
 
The pumping station has been designed to accept these additional flows and Thames Water 
has stated that there is sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional flow from this new 
development. 
 
The Council's Drainage consultant has no objection in principle to both the surface water and 
foul water disposal strategies, subject to satisfactory detailed drainage systems to be sought 
through a condition.  Copies of the EA permits will also be required. A further plan is required 
showing the flood flow routes for an exceedance event, together with any potential areas of 
ponding/flooding. A detailed maintenance management plan will be required for all drainage 
features remaining private, together with confirmation of responsibility post development. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority (Hants CC) has provided comments in their capacity as 
consultee for surface water drainage for major development. They have reviewed the FRA 
and have requested that further information/calculations are required on groundwater 
assessment.  
 
With the principle of the drainage proposals accepted and in view of the site being within 
Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding) and not known to have historic drainage or flooding 
issues, it seems pragmatic to secure this through a condition, which would tally with the 
advice from the Council's Drainage Consultant. As such, the development would accord with 
policy CP25 of the Joint Core Strategy.  
 
Sustainable Construction 
 
Policy CP24 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy seeks to secure 
that development provides at least 10% of energy demand from decentralised and renewable 
or low carbon energy sources. This is further elaborated through the LPA's Climate Change & 
Sustainable Construction SPD 2022. 
 
Details have not been submitted with the application explaining how the proposal would meet 
this requirement.  

Page 50



However, such a requirement is considered to be feasible and therefore a condition is 
recommended to secure the necessary details to ensure the development provides at least 
10% of its energy demand from decentralised and renewable or low carbon sources, in 
accordance with Policy CP24 of the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy.  
 
Developer Contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
   
Policy CP32 of the JCS states that where the provision or improvement of infrastructure is 
necessary to meet community or environmental needs associated with new development or to 
mitigate the impact of development on the environment, the payment of financial contributions 
will be required through planning obligations and/or the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
to ensure that all such development makes an appropriate and reasonable contribution to the 
costs of provision. 
 
CIL was implemented by the Council on the 8th April 2016 and the proposed land use in this 
application would be CIL liable. The current charging schedule for this part of the district 
requires a CIL payment of £220.52 per sqm.  
 
In terms of site specific infrastructure that might be secured under a S.106 legal agreement, 
despite the concerns raised by third parties and aside from the off-site highway works 
required by the CHA, only The Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has 
requested a contribution be secured. They seek a financial contribution of £92,492.55 towards 
the provision of healthcare services needed by the occupants of the new development as 
their services are likely to be called upon by new occupants of this development. This may 
well be true in part, but also other NHS facilities closer to the site would also be used by 
future occupants such as The Royal Hampshire County Hospital in Winchester, The 
Basingstoke and North Hampshire Hospital in Basingstoke and the Queen Alexandra Hospital 
in Portsmouth.  In addition, a contribution towards an NHS Trust does not have the policy 
backing of the JCS and would not make the development acceptable in planning terms. For 
these reasons, securing a specific contribution towards this one NHS trust would not meet the 
tests for a planning obligation.   
 
CIL receipts can now be used to fund the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of infrastructure needed to support the development of the area. Much of these 
measures were historically sought and secured through a S.106 legal agreement.  In terms of 
educational demand from this development, the site falls within the Chawton Primary and 
Amery Hill Secondary School catchment areas. However, Hampshire County Council’s 
Children’s Services Department states that although Chawton Primary is almost full (and 
forecast to remain so for the foreseeable future) this is down to out-catchment recruitment. 
The anticipated yield of pupils from the development (about two per year group) can be 
accommodated at the school with the out-catchment pupils being returned to their catchment 
schools.  Similarly, Amery Hill Secondary School, although almost full, also relies on out-
catchment recruitment. It is anticipated that the yield of pupils from the development can be 
accommodated in the school.  
 

Page 51



However, if this scheme was being supported, a S.106 agreement would however be required 
to secure the number and tenure of affordable housing units on the site and the off-site 
highway works required by the CHA.  
 
The Planning Balance 
 
The development would involve the provision of housing on an unallocated site in the 

countryside, which in principle is contrary to the policies of the development plan.  Some 

harm, though not unacceptable harm, would be caused to the character of the immediate 

area through the urbanising of rural land.   

The ability of this small local service centre to absorb more housing weighs significantly 

against the sustainability of the proposal.  This is especially so in view of the rapid rate of 

housing delivery Four Marks/South Medstead has seen which has substantially exceeded the 

minimum identified housing requirement early into the plan period.  The provision of further 

housing alone would not be conducive to the reinforcement of Four Marks/South Medstead’s 

role and function as a small local service centre providing a limited range of local services. 

This weighs against the social benefits arising from this development. 

There would be some harm to occupants of the two existing bungalows that sit at the 

entrance to the development arising from their proximity to the road and the comings and 

goings of vehicles accessing the new development. The harm is reduced as these properties 

do not front the new access road and could be further mitigated with appropriate new 

boundary treatments.  There is potential for harm to occupants living in existing dwellings to 

the west of the site but with a more robust and sensitive landscaping planting plan, by 

condition, this harm would be reduced.   

Outstanding concerns relating to ecology and drainage could be addressed through 

conditions.   

The CHA’s objection to the applicant’s proposed junction improvement scheme as a method 

of mitigating the impact of the development weights against the scheme and its environmental 

and social benefits. That aside there is some benefit socially from providing a pedestrian 

refuge at this junction.    

The applicant, in their Planning Statement (para 6.6), has briefly highlighted three benefits 

this scheme would deliver. It is stated that it would provide a sustainable development and 

significantly boost the supply of housing and affordable housing which cumulatively would far 

outweigh any adverse impacts.   

The provision of open market housing is given moderate weight.  Whilst it is acknowledged 

that there is a continuous need to boost the supply of housing, the authority has a five year 

housing land supply and the minimum allocation in Four Marks and South Medstead has 

been substantially exceeded.  Provision of more housing alone in this context, and in a 

location which has limited local facilities, would not adhere to the principles of sustainable 

development.     

Page 52



The benefits of affordable housing provision are accepted. However, this is a general need 

rather than an acute need and the affordable housing provision is merely a policy complaint 

requirement. 

In terms of the economic benefits arising from the scheme, the development might well 

contribute towards economic development in the short term through the construction of 

houses but there is no guarantee that any construction jobs would necessarily be occupied by 

local tradespeople. In addition, out-commuting and spending in larger nearby towns (Alton, 

Winchester, Basingstoke) would minimise the benefits to the local economy. 

Conclusion 

The scheme proposes 45 residential units on land that falls outside the settlement boundary 
for South Medstead and so, for the purposes of the development plan, is located within the 
countryside.  As such, the proposal would be contrary to the spatial strategy as set out in 
Policy 1 of the Neighbourhood Plan and policies CP2, CP10 and CP19 of the East Hampshire 
District Council Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. Therefore, there would be a presumption 
against the grant of planning permission under S.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  
 
The NPPF outlines the circumstances when this presumption against development is tilted in 

favour of granting planning permission for sustainable development.  Relevant to this 

proposal is the housing land supply in the district. However, the Council’s most up to date 

housing supply position was published in September 2021 and shows a supply of 5.74 years.  

In line with the Council’s supply position, there remains in excess of 5 years housing supply 

when taking into account the effect increased affordability ratios will have on the local housing 

need. Consequently, the housing supply policies are not out of date and the ‘titled balance’ 

would not be engaged. 

In terms of material considerations, the modest weight given to the claimed benefits of the 

proposal would clearly not outweigh the significant harm identified in this report. The 

proposed development would not constitute sustainable development and is contrary to the 

policies of the development plan and Government advice contained within the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

Response to Parish/Town Council Comments 
 
The comments received from both Medstead Parish Council and Four Marks Parish Council 
have been considered and assessed in this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



RECOMMENDATION  REFUSAL for the following reasons: 
 
1 The site is located outside the Settlement Boundary for South 

Medstead/Four Marks and therefore within an area where the countryside 
policies of the development plan apply.  
In the absence of material considerations or justification sufficient to 
outweigh the clear conflict with the development plan, the proposal is 
contrary to policies CP2, CP10 and CP19 of the East Hampshire District 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (June 2014) and the thrust of Policy 1 of 
the Medstead and Four Marks Neighbourhood Plan (May 2016).  
 

2 The provision of further housing, given the recent backdrop of very 
considerable local housing growth, would not be conducive to the 
reinforcement of Four Marks/South Medstead’s role and function as a 
small local service centre providing a limited range of services.  The 
proposal would not represent sustainable development in this regard. As 
such, the proposal would conflict with the requirements of the spatial 
strategy set out under policies CP2 and CP10 of the East Hampshire 
District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and paragraph 9 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

3 The applicant has failed to provide a mitigation scheme for this 
development which would not result in an unacceptable impact on the 
operation of the local highway network. The proposed development would 
therefore be contrary to the Policy CP31 (K) and paragraph 111 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

4 The application is not supported by a Planning Obligation to secure the 
provision of affordable housing in perpetuity nor the off-site highway 
works required in connection with this development.  In the absence of 
this Planning Obligation, the development is contrary to Policies CP13 
and CP32 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy  

 

Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing 
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
In this instance, the applicant was provided with pre-application advice 
and has been updated during the course of the planning application.  
 

Page 54



2 The applicant is advised that if this application had been acceptable in all 
other respects, the scheme would be liable to the East Hampshire 
District CIL Charging Schedule which became a material planning 
consideration on 8th April 2016. Therefore, if this decision is appealed 
and subsequently granted planning permission at appeal, this scheme 
would be liable to pay the Council’s CIL upon commencement of 
development. The CIL Schedule may be found online, here:  
https://cdn.easthants.gov.uk/public/documents/Infrastructure%20Funding
%20Statement%20IFS%202021.pdf  

 
 

CASE OFFICER: Nick Upton 01730 234232 
——————————————————————————————————————— 
 

Page 55



SECTION 1 Item 01 - Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens and, Boyneswood Close, 
Medstead, Alton 

 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

Page 56



SECTION 1 - Item 01 - Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens and, Boyneswood 
Close, Medstead, Alton 

 

 
 
 

Proposed Block Plan 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 59



Item No.: 02 
 

The information, recommendations, and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than one week in advance of the Committee meeting. 
Because of the time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the final 
date given for consultee responses or neighbour comments.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

 

PROPOSAL Reserved Matters Application pursuant to application 55587/001 
(scale, layout, landscaping, appearance and access) - For the erection 
of: i) Block A: . retail food store, service yard and access. Retail/office 
uses including multi-storey car-park with access from Budds Lane. 
Retail/offices with residential (and residential above) - up to 53 
residential units ii) Block B - retail and office uses incorporating up to 
42 residential units and car-parking iii) Block C - conversion of the 
former Sergeants' Mess building for bars/restaurants and 
leisure/entertainment uses including a heritage centre and iv) Block E 
- retail uses and up to 80 residential units v) Minor changes to the 
previously approved access and circulation roads/footpaths, public 
realm, and other open space/landscaping and lighting vi) New 
access/roads/car parking (including multi-storey car-park as above) 
and cycle parking and temporary car park vii) Transport 'hub' viii) 
Landscaping and boundary fencing/treatments ix) Utilities and 
services corridors and associated infrastructure  

LOCATION: Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon 

REFERENCE 55587/152 PARISH: Whitehill and Bordon 

APPLICANT:  DIO/WBRC 

CONSULTATION 
EXPIRY: 

02 March 2022 

APPLICATION EXPIRY: 11 April 2022 

COUNCILLORS: Councillor A S Carew, Councillor P Davies 

SUMMARY RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL 

 

This application is included on the agenda at the discretion of the Interim Director of 
Regeneration and Place 
 
Site and Development 
 
Bordon Garrison was home to the Defence School of Electronic and Mechanical Engineering 
(DSEME) and the Royal Electrical and Mechanical Engineers (REME). Following the 
announcement that the Garrison site was declared surplus to requirements the army has now 
left the town.  

Page 60



As a background to this particular Reserved Matter Application (RMA), an outline planning 
permission was granted as part of the hybrid planning application (HPA) reference 55587/001 
for the redevelopment of the Bordon Garrison. The permission included the provision for up to 
2400 dwellings, a new town centre, new school provision, employment, sports and leisure 
reprovision. Detailed permission was also granted for the second phase of the relief road 
together with the provision of the Hogmoor Inclosure as a Suitable Alternative Natural Green 
Space (SANG).  
 
A previous Reserved Matters Application (RMA) was approved in January 2019 under 
planning reference 55587/065 for the first phase of the Town Centre on the same site as this 
subsequent submission. Part of that first permission has been built out at The Shed (as 
amended by permissions reference 55587/120 and 55587/141) and is now open together with 
the public realm, access roads (including Havannah Way and Sergeants Yard) and the 
woodland car park.  
 
The first phase of the town centre will occupy the north-eastern corner of Prince Philip 
Barracks and covers a site area of approximately 6 hectares. The site borders both the C114 
(former A325) at the eastern boundary of the site, and Budds Lane at the site's northern 
boundary. The western boundary is adjacent to the land reserved for the second phase of the 
Town Centre, which will be subject to a separate application and currently houses the outdoor 
cinema site and temporary vehicular and cycle storage. The Leisure Centre lies to the 
southern edge of the Town Centre beyond the town park. 
 
This reserved matters application (considering scale, layout, landscaping, appearance and 
access) proposes: 
 
1. Block A including 
 

 a 2,483 sqm food store, with service yard and access; 

 668 sqm of Retail 

 862 sqm of offices 

 A multi-storey carpark and surface level parking with access from Budds Lane; 

 53 residential apartments. 
 
2. Block B - retail and office uses incorporating 42 residential units and car-parking. 

 
3. Block C - part conversion of the former Sergeants’ Mess building for bars/restaurants and 

leisure/entertainment uses including a heritage centre and gallery. 
 

4. Block E - retail uses and 80 residential units 
 

5. Minor changes to the previously approved access and circulation roads/footpaths, public 
realm, and other open space/landscaping and lighting 
 

6. New access/roads/car parking (including multi storey car park) and cycle parking 
 
7. Transport hub 

Page 61



8. Landscaping and boundary fencing and treatments 
 
9. Utilities and services corridors and associated infrastructure 
 
The key changes between the approved Town Centre (TC) and the amended proposal can be 
summarised as: 
 

 Revisions to the block sizes between Blocks A and E including the repositioning of MSCP 
(with a lower parking capacity) within Block A (previously in Block E) with a revised access 
position to Budds Lane; 

 New food store arrangements, including rear service yard accessed from Budds Lane; 

 Reduced commercial floorspace; 

 Reduced car parking, motorcycle and cycle provision commensurate to the reduced 
floorspace proposed; 

 Removal of cinema in Block C with focus on entertainment and leisure, including a multi-
functional events space 

 
The proposed re-alignment of the former A325 (High Street) including as part of the new TC 
Arrival Square is being dealt with separately under a S.278 application by HCC as the Local 
Highway Authority. The previously proposed improvement works to Budds Lane have recently 
been completed. 
 
The Health Hub parcel, currently subject of an outline application, will be the final element of 
TC phase 1 and an updated application is anticipated to be submitted in this summer. 
 
This application is supported by a number of documents summarised below: 
 
Planning Statement 
Supporting Plans 
Design and Access Statement 
Air Quality Assessment 
Drainage Technical Note  
Transport Assessment 
Landscape Specification 
Ecological Compensation, Mitigation, & Enhancement Strategy 
Noise Impact Assessment 
Lighting Assessment 
Utilities and Energy Statement 
Green Measures Statement 
Japanese Knotweed Survey Report 
Tree Removal and Arboricultural Impact Assessment  
Arboricultural Development Report 
Site Investigation / Contamination 
Sergeant’s Mess Heritage Statement 
 
 
 

Page 62



Amendments were received during the consideration of the application in response to 
comments received from consultees which included amendments to the drainage and 
highway proposals, minor changes to the noise and lighting reports to reflect EHO comments 
and a strategy for the provision of swift boxes and bricks.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
55587 Request for scoping opinion - Redevelopment of Bordon Garrison and land adjoining 
for a mixed use residential led development including supporting open space, new schools, 
town centre, relief road and suitable alternative natural greenspace (SANGs) EIA required   
29/05/2014 
 
55587/001 Hybrid Application – (1) Outline planning permission (all matters reserved with the 
exception of some points of access) for the demolition of MoD buildings and redevelopment of 
Bordon Garrison and adjoining land for: 
 
(i) Up to 2,400 dwellings (Class C3) (including within a new town centre and including the 
potential conversion of the Sandhurst Block, Prince Philip Barracks). 
 
(ii) Town centre (up to 23,000 m² (gross) commercial floorspace) comprising floorspace within 
Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, C1, D1, and D2 (including the potential conversion of the 
Sergeants' Mess, Prince Philip Barracks) together with residential (Class C3) and 
care/nursing home (Class C2), access, transport interchange, town park/square, car parking, 
servicing and drop off areas and including a food store up to 5,000 m² gross and swimming 
pool/gym of up to 3,000 m² gross. (up to 0.2ha will be set aside for an energy centre in the 
town centre) 
 
(iii) secondary school for up to 8FE (Class D1) (up to 10,000 sq.m) including sports pitches, 
floodlit all-weather pitch, and parking areas. 
 
(iv) one 3FE primary school (Class D1) (up to 3,200 sq.m) with sports pitch and parking 
areas. 
 
(v) Employment (up to 10,000 m² (gross) floorspace) within Classes B1 and B2. 
 
(vi) Replacement sports changing/pavilion facility (up to 160 m² gross floorspace). 
 
(vii) Associated provision of: roads, car parking, cycleways and footpaths; public open space 
including sports pitches (and upgrades to existing pitches), informal/incidental open space, 
children's play areas including multi-use games areas (MUGA) and BMX or Skate Park, 
allotments; SANGS network (including ecological mitigation measures such as a 'bat building'; 
landscaping/buffer areas; means of enclosure/boundary treatments; sustainable urban 
drainage systems, including flood alleviation works; associated works including demolition of 
existing structures and hardstanding, earthworks, remediation, utilities service diversions, 
connections and ancillary structures, street lighting, and tree removal; creation of new access 
points at Budds Lane, A325, and Station Road; and 
 

Page 63



(2) Full planning permission for: 
 
(i) the creation of an area of suitable alternative natural greenspace (SANG) at Hogmoor 
Inclosure, including car parking areas, paths/cycle-walkways, fencing, bat bunkers, and 
associated landscaping/earthworks; and 
 
(ii) the delivery of the southern section of a new 'relief road' (including associated 
pedestrian/cycleways) linking to the A325 including associated earthworks, fencing, lighting, 
drainage and utilities, crossings and surface water attenuation/drainage measures. 
 
Permission 06/11/2015  
 
55587/050 Town centre Design Code (Phase 1) Including an addendum received on 9th May 
2018 relating to Block H (mixed use residential and Town Centre cycle Storage and workshop 
facility) Condition discharged 07/11/2017 
 
55587/065 Reserved Matters Application (scale, layout, landscaping, appearance and 
access) pursuant to application 55587/001 - for the erection of Phase 1 of a new town centre 
containing: 
i) Retail units (including a new food store), professional and financial services, drinking 
establishments, cafes, restaurants, offices (including Town Centre Management Offices and 
Town Centre toilets / changing facilities); 
ii) Cinema (6 screen) (with external cinema screen and external advertisement display 
panels) and heritage / arts space;  
iii) Offices/Light Industrial/Community Business Hub/Street Market/Heritage/external pop-up 
market units;  
iv) Residential apartments and maisonettes (170 in total) and podium gardens; 
v) Conversion of the former Sergeants' Mess building for pubs/restaurants 
vi) Access and circulation roads/footpaths, public realm/town park and square, and other 
open space/landscaping and lighting; 
vii) New access roads/car parking including a multi-storey car park, and cycle parking and 
temporary car park; 
viii) Transport 'hub';  
ix) Town park, town squares and new public realm/LEAP/petanque area and landscaping and 
boundary fencing; and  
x) Utilities and services corridors and associated infrastructure.  
As amended by plans received and documents received on 3rd December, 17th and 21st 
December 2018, and 15th and 24th January 2019.   31/01/2019 APPR  
 
55587/066 Part Discharge of planning conditions and obligations from the Hybrid Planning 
Application (ref: 55587/001) for the first Phase of the New Town Centre.  
 
55587/075 Reserved Matters Application pursuant to outline application 55587/001 - Erection 
of a Leisure Centre within the new town centre including details of building elevations and 
external materials (as per additional plans received 02/02/2018)   Permission 23/03/2018  
       
 

Page 64



55587/120 Proposed minor amendment to the Town Centre Phase 1 Reserved Matters 
Application (ref 55587/065) and the variation of conditions of permission 55587/065, including 
amendments received on 6th May 2020, comprising the following: 
 
Minor material change to Block D (Makers Market) including omitting the offices on the upper 
floors resulting in a reduction in the height of the building. A minor change to the public realm, 
including consolidating and reducing the number of materials proposed to be used. Minor 
alterations to the wording of the following conditions 1 (Highway Improvement Works), 2 
(Vehicle and bicycle parking provision), 16 (Noise report for Blocks C and D), 20 (Odour 
extraction for Blocks C and D) , 23 (Commercial uses Block D), 31 (Management Company 
details) and 38 (Plans list) to enable the early delivery of the Makers Market and Public Realm  
Discharge of RMA conditions 29 (retaining wall in relation to Block D), 30 (Kerb edging and 
Tree Pits) and 32 (Materials) all relating to Block D only. Approved 07/07/2020  
      
55587/140 Temporary use of part of the former Parade Square as an outdoor cinema 
including the temporary installation of a cinema screen and food/beverage/WC facilities   
Temporary Permission 12/05/2021  
 
55587/141 Minor material amendments to RMA Approval 55587/120 in relation to Block D 
(The Shed) and surrounding public realm at the New Town Centre. Variation of condition 30 
of 55587/120 to be revised to facilitate the delivery of a revised childrens play area and 
variation of condition 39 to substitute the proposed minor changes on plans from the 
approved plans list. Approved 18/08/2021   
       
55587/151 Proposed discharge of conditions and obligations attached to the original Hybrid 
Planning Application permission ref: 55587/001 and specifically relating to the revised RMA 
submission for a new town centre only: 
 
Relevant Conditions: 
 
Conditions 8, 10, 11 (Ecology), 13 and 14, (Archaeology), 16 (Foul and Surface Water 
Drainage), 20 (Japanese Knotweed), 21 (Cycle storage), 22 (Contamination), 25, 26 and 27 
(AIA, Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Measures), 33 (Noise from fixed 
plant), 36 (Lighting Scheme) 37 (Sergeants' Mess) and 44 (Transport Hub). 
 
Relevant HPA Obligations: 
 
Obligation 29 (Strategic Travel Plan), 35 (Business Plan for Community Development Trust), 
37 (Broadband Strategy) and 39 (Town Centre Delivery Plan). 
 
Obligations to support RMA: 
 
Schedule 4 Ref 3 (Affordable Housing), Sch. 6 Ref 30 (Travel Plan), Sch. 8 Ref 49 
(Employment and Skills Plan), Sch. 9 Ref 66 (Open Space Specification), Sch. 9 Ref 67, 68 
and 69 (Open Space Management Plan), Sch. 10 Ref 73 (Green Measures Expenditure) and 
Sch. 10 Ref 74 (Energy Statement). Current application. 
 

Page 65



55587/152 Reserved Matters Application pursuant to application 55587/001 (scale, layout, 
landscaping, appearance and access) - For the erection of: i) Block A: retail food store, 
service yard and access. Retail/office uses including multi-storey carpark with access from 
Budds Lane. Retail/offices with residential (and residential above) - up to 53 residential units 
ii) Block B - retail and office uses incorporating up to 42 residential units and car-parking iii) 
Block C - conversion of the former Sergeants' Mess building for bars/restaurants and 
leisure/entertainment uses including a heritage centre and iv) Block E - retail uses and up to 
80 residential units v) Minor changes to the previously approved access and circulation 
roads/footpaths, public realm, and other open space/landscaping and lighting vi) New 
access/roads/car parking (including multi-storey car-park as above) and cycle parking and 
temporary car park vii) Transport 'hub' viii) Landscaping and boundary fencing/treatments ix) 
Utilities and services corridors and associated infrastructure. Current application. 
 
Development Plan Policies and Proposals 
 
The Draft version of the Local Plan (2017 -2036) was published under Regulation 18 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) for public 
consultation from 5 February to 19 March 2019. Paragraph 48 of the NPPF (2021) sets out 
the circumstances when emerging planning policies may be given weight in determining 
planning applications. Based on the current early stage of preparation, the draft Local Plan 
policies are currently afforded no weight.  
 
East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (2014) 
CSWB1 -  Strategic allocation 

CSWB2 -  Sustainable economic development 
CSWB3 -  The new town centre 

CSWB4 -  Housing 

CSWB5 -  Design 

CSWB6 -  Sustainable construction 

CSWB7 -  Waste 

CSWB8 -  Sustainable water management 
CSWB9 -  Biodiversity 

CSW10 -  Green infrastructure 

CSWB11 - New roads and traffic management on the A325 

CSWB12 - Pedestrian and cycle routes 

CSWB13 -  Public transport 
CSWB14 -  Travel plans 

CSWB15 -  Local transport network improvements 

CSWB16 -  Travel monitoring 

CSWB17 -  Car parking 

CP1 -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
CP3 -  New employment provision 

CP5 -  Employment and workforce skills 

CP7 -  New retail provision 

CP10 -  Spatial strategy for housing 

CP11 -  Housing tenure, type and mix 

CP13 -  Affordable housing on residential development sites 

Page 66



CP16 -  Protection and provision of social infrastructure 

CP17 -  Protection of open space, sport & recreation & built facilities 

CP18 -  Provision of open space, sport and recreation and built facilities 

CP20 -  Landscape 

CP21 -  Biodiversity 

CP24 -  Sustainable construction 

CP25 -  Flood Risk 

CP26 -  Water resources/ water quality 

CP27 -  Pollution 

CP28 -  Green Infrastructure 

CP29 -  Design 

CP30 -  Historic Environment 
CP31 -  Transport 
 
Planning Policy Constraints and Guidance 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) July 2021 
 
In this instance the following sections of the NPPF are considered to be particularly relevant 
to the consideration of the development; 
 
 2. Achieving sustainable development  
 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
 6. Building a strong, competitive economy  
 7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres  
 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities  
 9. Promoting sustainable transport  
11. Making effective use of land  
12. Achieving well-designed places  
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
16. Conserving the historic environment 
 
Consultations and Town/Parish Council comments 
 
EHDC Conservation Officer - No objection subject to conditions 
 
EHDC Housing Officer - No objection.  
 
HCC Highway Authority - Following receipt of amended plans, No objection subject to 
conditions 
 
HCC County Archaeologist - No objection. Previous development at this location has 
sufficiently compromised the archaeological potential for survival, that I would not raise any 
archaeological issues. 
 
EHDC Environmental Health Pollution Control - No objection subject to conditions 

Page 67



EHDC Contamination Officer - No objection subject to securing the remediation strategy. The 
submitted site investigation / contamination reports further develops the previously submitted 
details supporting the previous applications and provides additional monitoring. The extent of 
the reports are satisfactory. Further remediation details are required to secure clean capping, 
soil excavation and the removal of affected soils. 
 
EHDC Landscape Officer - No objection 
 
EHDC Arboricultural Officer - No objection subject to works being undertaken strictly in 
accordance with the submitted Arboricultural Development Report and accompanying 
Appendices and Plans 
 
South Downs National Park Authority - The SDNPA comments relate to the proposed lighting 
design which is in general sympathetic to dark night skies. 
 
We raise some concern over the lighting columns that are proposed for the roof top car 
parking which potentially means that the lights may be un-intentionally more prominent and 
intrusive. This would raise the scattering surface higher which will create a more prominent 
dome of light more visible on the horizon and a greater possibility of loss of sky quality. In that 
respect it would be better to avoid it completely, cover it or consider using bollards to at least 
lower the column height. 
 
However, we are mindful that the issue with bollards is that more illuminance would be 
required and be more difficult to achieve as it would not spread so far. Could consideration be 
given to the lights being proximity switched or 'locked off' for access during quieter night 
times?  
 
HCC County Ecologist - No objection in principle - subject to securing mitigation proposed 
including additional information for bird boxes particularly increased proportion of swift boxes. 
 
HCC Lead Local Flood Authority - Following receipt of additional information, No Objection to 
the RMA application and for the discharge of the drainage condition attached to the HPA. 
 
EHDC Drainage Consultant - No objection. 
 
EHDC Refuse Team - Comments awaited on the submitted refuse collection plan. 
 
Thames Water - No objection 
 
Environment Agency - No objection 
 
Fire Officer - Advisory notes 
 
EHDC CIL Team - The permission granted under application 55587/001 is subject to a S106 
agreement dated 5/11/2015 and a Deed of Variation dated 19/03/2020.  
 
 

Page 68



EHDC Regeneration Team Comments - This application is welcomed and supported as the 
proposals will bring a vibrant further offer to the new town centre at Whitehill & Bordon 
offering new residential dwellings and a variety of leisure, shopping, employment 
opportunities and activities.   
 
Whitehill Town Council - No objection 
 
Representations 
 
One letter of objection and one letter of comment have been received relating to this 
application, setting out the concerns as summarised below:  
 
Highway concerns 
 

 Objection to the access to the development coming off Budds Lane. With two schools 
along this road, it would make a into dangerous main thoroughfare turning this busy road 
into a very dangerous road. 

 There have already been incidents of children being hit by cars. 

 Already there is daily congestion on this road. 

 With the addition of more houses, will lead to parking on street.   

 Would turn this whole area in a giant car park. 
 
Pollution 
 

 Pollution from stationary vehicles at school drop off and pick up times and endangering 
children's health and safety 

 
Ecology 
 
Swift Boxes one per flat should be provided. 
 
Determining Issues 
 
1. The Development Plan and Planning Policy 
2. Details pursuant to the reserved matters  
3. Phasing 
4. Affordable housing 
5. Lighting Strategy 
6. Green Measures 
7. Drainage and Utilities 
8. Conditions discharge pursuant to the original Hybrid Planning Application (HPA) 
9. Response to comments received from the public and Whitehill Town Council. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



Planning Considerations  
 
1. The Development Plan and Planning Policy 
 
The development plan for the application site includes the EHDC/SDNPA Joint Core Strategy 
(JCS), along with the remaining 'saved' policies of the 2006 Second Review: Local Plan and 
the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP).  
 
The JCS was adopted in May 2014 and sets out the planning policies for development within 
East Hampshire for the next 15 years. Within the JCS there are 18 policies that specifically 
relate to Whitehill and Bordon. With the Army's relocation from Bordon, there is a once in a 
lifetime opportunity to ensure a sustainable regeneration of the town. The area requires 
investment and the objectives of the JCS policies are aimed at regenerating and improving 
the built environment within the town as a strategic objective to create an attractive town 
where people want to live, work, shop and play with excellent facilities, leisure opportunities, 
jobs, training opportunities and a balanced mix of housing. 
 
Key policies relating to the Town Centre are Policy CSWB3 identify scope for up to 23,000 
square metres (gross) retail floorspace in the new town centre out of which up to 16,000 
square metres (gross) could come forward in the plan period. A range of other cultural, 
recreational, leisure and office facilities are promoted to improve the vitality and viability of the 
town centre.  
 
Policies CSWB5, CP29, CP30 and HE13 relate to design and require development to 
demonstrate an integrated approach to sustainable design and to reflect character area 
design codes. Where possible development must conserve or enhance the District's historic 
environment and where opportunities arise, proposals should incorporate locally distinctive 
ex-military buildings. 
 
Policy CP28 requires green infrastructure networks to be maintained, managed and 
enhanced. Policy CSWB10 specifies that green Infrastructure utilising new and existing 
greenspaces will be part of a well-managed, high quality, green infrastructure network of 
walking and cycling routes across the town. 
 
Policies CSWB12 - 18, CP31, T2 and T3 seek to improve public transport and provide an 
innovative and comprehensive package of measures to promote sustainable travel including a 
transport hub within the town centre 
 
2. Details pursuant to the reserved matters  
 
This application seeks reserved matter approval relating to the following: 
 
a. Appearance, layout and scale of the proposed development; 
b. Landscaping; 
c. Access. 
 
 

Page 70



Outline planning permission was granted for up to 2,400 dwellings, a new town centre and 
associated infrastructure, as part of the hybrid planning permission granted under 55587/001.  
 
This application site falls within the development area permitted under the outline consent, 
therefore the principle and quantum of development has already been established. 
 
Condition 45 of 55587/001 allows for a town centre with up to 23,000 sqm (gross) commercial 
floorspace, comprising floorspace within Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, C1, D1, and D2 
including the potential conversion of the Sergeants' Mess, Prince Philip Barracks) of which 
19,000 sqm is approved for A1 (retail) uses together with residential (Class C3), access, 
transport interchange, town park/square, car parking, servicing and drop off areas and 
including a food store up to 5,000 m² gross and swimming pool/gym of up to 3,000 m² gross. 
(up to 0.2ha will be set aside for an energy centre in the town centre) 
 
In the case of this application, the Town Centre has a total floor area of 9,795 sqm of 
commercial floorspace, therefore the proposal complies with the restrictions specified in 
condition 45. 
 
The key reasons underpinning the need to seek consent for a revised TC 1 scheme reflect 
significant changes in demand for retail, which is reflected in the size and configuration of TC 
units and their prospective uses. The revised proposals aim to target local business and retail 
needs and is informed in part by the experiences and the success of The Shed, where 
smaller units enable local businesses to thrive with a relatively low upfront capital outlay for fit 
out. The Shed has also demonstrated that food and beverage units are currently in demand 
and that the hospitality industry is expected to boom, with economic growth anticipated in this 
sector which bodes well for the proposals for the Mess Hall in Block C.  
 
The proposed retail spaces in the town centre include a Morrison food store and 9 units 
(previously 20 units). The applicant seeks to ensure that the scheme is viable in the long 
term. The size of the units has been reduced from 2,757 sqft to 1,381 sqft in order to appeal 
to local traders and the number of shops has reduced in response to market conditions. It is 
evident that online trading continues to grow and that a large number of shops would not be 
sustainable in the town. 
 
This approach, with the focus upon smaller local retailing, sees a shift in emphasis within the 
town centre with a greater focus upon leisure and entertainment uses. Market forces may shift 
in the future, but the proposals appear to strike the right balance for the first phase of 
development. There is scope to incorporate additional retail units in the second phase of the 
town centre which is likely to follow once the first phase has been established. 
 
In total 175 residential units are proposed and will be distributed across Blocks A, B and E 
providing a mix of 25 one bed flats, 128 two bed units and 22 three bed apartments. 
 
Block A 53 units comprising 7x one bed flats, 37x two bed units and 9x three bed units. 
Block B 42 units comprising 5x one bed units, 30x two bed units and 7x three bed units. 
Block C 80 units comprising 13x one bed units, 61x two bed units and 6x three bed units. 
   

Page 71



a. Appearance, layout and scale 
 
Unlike its peer settlements of Alton and Petersfield, Whitehill and Bordon does not hold a 
legacy of market town traditions, and there is little of character or structure to draw from to 
identify a vernacular for the town. The Design Code and the Structuring Plan both make 
reference to a contemporary ambition for the Town Centre and this approach is supported. 
 
The applicant has submitted a Design and Access Statement and supporting CGIs and street 
scenes which demonstrates how the scale and design of the development sits comfortably 
within its setting and surroundings.  
 
The design of the scheme follows the principles and parameters established within the hybrid 
planning application. In addition, and in accordance with condition 7 of the hybrid application, 
Structuring Plan (55587/008) and Design Code (55587/050), documents were approved prior 
to the submission of this application. These link in with the key parameters of the scheme 
which were set out in the HPA. The application as submitted broadly accords with the relevant 
parameter plans. The development provides housing and key leisure and retail floor area with 
a clear hierarchy of main and local streets in accordance with the approved Land Use 
parameters.  
 
Structuring Plan 
 
The Structuring Plan sets out development parcels, road hierarchy, spaces for the public 
realm as well as defining parameters for storey heights and density. 
 
The character at Prince Philip Barracks is influenced by a range of factors. These relate to the 
existing use and history of the site, in particular the bold geometric lines of the red-brick 
barracks buildings on the Prince Philip Barracks parcels and the larger functional buildings 
and warehouses located within the Technical Training Area. From a conservation perspective, 
whilst there are no listed buildings on site, the HPA secured the retention of the original 
facade to the Sergeants Mess building (within Block C) which acts as a permanent reminder 
of the site's former use. 
 
The approach to the design of the town centre provides a contemporary sustainable form of 
architecture incorporating bespoke buildings for retail, leisure, entertainment, healthcare and 
community use sited along the primary routes which presents the public face of the 
development. 
 
The parameters of the HPA permission have deliberately created a higher density form of 
development within the town centre with an emphasis on a modern / contemporary approach 
to the design of the buildings. The strong vertical rhythm of the buildings, with an emphasis 
upon window proportions is an acknowledgement of the regimented form of development 
associated with the barracks. Narrow streets opening at key spaces present a strong urban 
design to the new town centre.  
 
The sequence of primary spaces at the arrival square, new High Street and Town Square is 
supported by a network of smaller secondary roads and spaces.  

Page 72



The harder edge of the town centre is offset by the larger and much softer landscape of the 
Town Park to the south of the former Sergeant's Mess (Block C).  
 
Parameter plans 
 
The storey heights broadly accord with the parameter plans, allowing for the town centre to 
accommodate the tallest buildings within the whole of the wider regeneration area. The 
maximum height of development (Blocks A and E) is commensurate with the heights 
approved under the previously approved scheme. The scale and heights of the buildings 
across the site range widely between 6m (supermarket) and 21m with the tallest buildings 
acting as bookends to the eastern and western edges of the town centre. This approach 
accords with both the parameter and structuring plans which allow for taller landmark 
buildings in prominent locations. In the case of this Town Centre application, the addition of a 
fifth storey and inset penthouse level provides greater emphasis to the structures in those 
particular locations. Often, the additional floor is set back from the street frontage to minimise 
any visual dominance of the buildings, which is the case for the additional penthouse for 
Block A. As with the previously approved scheme, Block E provides the western edge to this 
phase of the town centre, with its height reflective of the previously approved scheme. The 
remainder of the town centre allows for up to four storeys in accordance with the building 
height parameter plan, In the case of the supermarket, the height steps down further to 
provide variety in scale within the town centre. Unlike the previous scheme there is no 
development above the supermarket. The site also accords with the densities parameter plan 
which allows for densities over 55 dwellings per hectare within the town centre area.  
 
Building Blocks A to E 
 
Both the leisure centre and The Shed (Block D of the previous RMA) have been built and are 
now open and sit beside the provision of the associated public realm including the town park 
and square. This application comprises the remaining four blocks. 
 
The design is centred around the creation of a new 'retail high street' and areas of public 
realm. A contemporary design approach has been adopted across the whole of the town 
centre. To add visual interest, each block incorporates a variety of materials and elevations 
are broken up through the introduction of setbacks and variation in building heights. Overall, 
this approach will create a new bespoke visual identity to the heart of the town. The proposed 
scale balances the requirements for the higher density built form without appearing overly 
dominant in the street scene.  
 
The development proposes a variety of materials. The quality of the proposed design should 
not be undermined through substandard choice of materials. So, notwithstanding the 
information contained within the DAS, the details of the materials to be used for each 
development block will be conditioned in order to assess their quality.  
 
Five percent of the flats provided as part of TC1 will be designed to be suitable for use as 
wheelchair adapted units, these units are located in Block B (4 units) and Block E (5 units). 
 
 

Page 73



Block A 
 
Block A is a key landmark building holding the corner junction of the C114 and Budds Lane. It 
plays a key role in the masterplan for the town centre providing a significant proportion of the 
new retail accommodation (food store and commercial building) to the High Street 
(Guadeloupe Way), office accommodation, 53 residential units and a Multi Storey Car Park 
(MSCP). At ground floor six retail units wrap around the building with key frontages onto the 
C114 and the High Street. Office accommodation is provided along the Budds Lane frontage 
together with the main residential access into the building block.  
 
A Morrisons food store (Block A3) is shown to be prominently located with a frontage onto the 
Town Square and the multi storey car park (Block A2) is set behind the commercial buildings 
(Block A4) in the High Street. This key location allows a very convenient provision of parking 
spaces into the town centre and yet minimises the impact of its presence. 
 
The layout of the retail units, the relationship with the public realm and the adjacent buildings 
contribute to creating a new sense of place within an attractive setting for shopping, leisure 
and living. The overall massing of the buildings accords with the HPA parameters. Individual 
buildings are articulated to create prominent corners. Lower-scale buildings such as the food 
store and the retail building create variety in scale and break down the massing of the block. 
Vertical emphasis is achieved through continuity of materials and the rhythm of the windows 
on the residential building 
 
The long elevation of Block A1 Residential facing the C114 turns the corner into the High 
Street and defines the Arrival Square frontage. This corner is the highest point to the 
development, with the residential blocks ranging in height between 15m and 21m. The height 
brings definition to this prominent corner of the development. The massing is comparable to 
the previously permitted town centre, with the scale appropriate to the overarching structuring 
plan where the highest density of development has been planned for the town centre.  
 
The residential element to the block, is designed with deep recesses and a vertical emphasis 
to achieve the desired height on the corner. Each flat within block A meet the National 
Described Space Standard (NDSS) as a minimum. All flats benefit from a private outdoor 
space either a balcony or roof terrace. The scale is reduced in height to the retail and office 
elements and is characterised by the introduction of repeated pitched roofs. The food store 
has been developed closely with the operator to create a height that sits comfortably within 
the town centre.  
 
The design of Block A has been developed with regard to all people including those with 
disabilities and elderly residents. Level access is achieved on all entrances. There are two 
lifts within the block to provide access to the units above ground floor.  
 
Car parking for the residents living within Block A is provided at 1 space per unit as set out in 
the Structuring Plan.  
 
Residential cycle parking for Blocks A is provided in secure stores adjacent to the main 
residential entrances to the blocks.  

Page 74



A minimum of one space for 1-bedroom and two spaces for 2&3-bedroom units are provided 
within each residential block. Retail and 
commercial bike parking is provided within the town centre public areas. 
 
Materials 
 
The main materials proposed are: 
 

 Buff and grey coloured brickwork 

 Metal cladding  

 Balconies have vertical metal uprights and windows are metal framed and double glazed. 
Large French doors are proposed to all balconies and terraces. 

 Roofs are either flat with parapets or clad in metal where they are pitched. 
 
The High Street is characterised by continuous active retail frontages along the length of the 
block allowing uninterrupted shop frontages. The corner of Budds Lane and the C114 is 
defined by a residential entrance. Commercial and residential accommodation front onto 
Budds Lane to create further interest and animation to this edge of the development.  
 
Multi Storey Car Park (MSCP) 
 
The MSCP is composed of three decks above the ground floor. The elevations are designed 
with repetitive vertical cladding with regular 400mm intervals which allow glimpsed views, 
natural light and ventilation into the car park. 
 
Vehicles will enter and leave the car park from Budds Lane. The car park will be controlled 
with Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) cameras avoiding the need for any barriers 
on entry or exit. A total of 362 spaces will be provided over 4 stories, of those spaces 164 
spaces will be provided for residential parking, with the remainder for shoppers. Electric 
vehicles charging (21 spaces) and motorcycle parking (15) will also be provided within the 
MSCP.  
 
Interface with surrounding buildings 
 
The scale and bulk of the block is broadly similar that of the equivalent block in the previously 
approved Town Centre application. With the height not exceeding that previously approved. 
Block A has a similar relationship to both Blocks B and C which sit on the opposite side of the 
High Street. There is a 12m separation between buildings on either side of the High Street.  
 
As a gateway building, Block A3 has been designed to be outward looking addressing both 
the C114 (Camp Road) and Budds Lane. The design of the block 
creates a landmark elevation to the C114 which gradually steps up in scale from the junction 
with Budds Lane to meet the entrance to the High Street. A recessed podium level will not 
appear prominently in the street scene. On Budds Lane the residential main entrance, cycle 
store and offices with residential above will bring activity to the street. 
 
 

Page 75



Residential amenity for Block A 
 
The nearest neighbours are located across the Camp Road (C114) in Ashmead. The closest 
point is at the north-east corner of Block A, at the junction of Budds Lane and the former 
A325. The nearest property is No. 11 which has a side on projection with no window openings 
in the side elevation facing Block A. There is a 25m separation to the single storey side 
projection and 29m to the first storey elevation to that property. This separation distance and 
relationship are considered to be acceptable, ensuring the new development will not have an 
overbearing impact upon the neighbours. The separation distances to other neighbours in 
Ashmead with eastern elevations to Block A are significantly greater with a generous 71m 
separation mitigating the taller section of Block A. The heights and separation distances are 
comparable to the previously approved scheme. Therefore, there will not be any significant 
amenity or relationship implications.  
 
Block B  
 
Block B comprising retail and office uses incorporating 42 residential units and car-parking is 
located on the eastern side of the site, south of Block A, and east of Block C. It is one of the 
major buildings in the town centre, defining the High Street (Guadeloupe Way) and is a 
gateway to the town centre as you approach from Chalet Hill and the existing town to the 
east. 
 
This building has a frontage onto the new High Street (to the north), the C114 (to the east) 
and to the existing church (to the south). The block is L shaped with the main core fronting 
High Street and C114 extending to four storeys (17m) with the return facing the church 
stepped down to three storeys (11.5m). The taller block responds to the siting of the High 
Street and its relationship to Block A. The lower element is more sensitive to the context 
around Sergeants Lane with the Church building and Block C. Sergeants Lane separates 
Block B from the church site, where there is a minimum 21m separation, extending to 35m to 
the main four storey section, these distances are considered to be acceptable to ensure the 
amenities of the Church buildings are not adversely impacted upon.  
 
One of the main features of the design is the creation of a “picture frame” elevation fronting 
the C114 this adds distinction to that elevation and the building as a whole, the design is also 
complemented by a series of pitched roofs to the main core, which add additional visual 
interest. At ground floor level, a retail unit wraps around the corner of the building with 
frontages facing onto the C114 and leading into the High Street. The residential 
accommodation totals 42 units, providing a mix of one, two and three bedroom flats, with the 
majority (30 units) being two bed flats. Small areas of landscaping surround the block 
providing a green edge to the building. 
 
Apartments within Block B are accessed via two entrances from the dedicated surface 
parking to the south of the West of the block. Two core entrances serve the building, each 
with a lift, with no more than seven apartments per floor. A series of pitched roofs create a 
distinctive roofline. 
 
 

Page 76



The main materials proposed are: 
 

 Light buff brick for the main residential volume with a plinth of grey brick. 

 Dark bronze coloured metal with vertical emphasis for the plinth volume.  

 The picture frame elevation uses a different colour to stand out within the brick building 
and uses of a grey. 

 Balconies, windows, doors and other trims all have matching grey metal finishes to bring 
consistency to the elevations.  

 
Car parking is provided at 1 space per unit as set out in the Structuring Plan and Design 
Code, therefore requiring 42 spaces in total. All car parking is provided close to Block B, as 
follows: 
 

 24 spaces are provided in the courtyard car park, this number includes 4 accessible bays; 

 13 spaces are allocated on street along Sergeants Lane; and 

 5 allocated residential spaces are utilising the existing spaces in the Town Park. 
 
Commercial spaces for the office space are provided in the MSCP. In addition, 2 
loading/delivery bays are provided at Sergeants Lane. 
 
Residential cycle parking for blocks B is provided in a secure store (84 spaces in total) 
adjacent to the main residential entrance to the blocks. Retail and commercial cycle parking is 
provided within the town centre public areas. 
 
Block C (Sergeants' Mess) 
 
The Sergeants’ Mess is one of three buildings that will retain some of their existing fabric in 
the masterplan and will remain a focal point of the proposed Town Centre. The existing 
facade to the Sergeants’ Mess building fronting onto the Town Park will be retained with a 
new replacement structure providing a new event space, restaurants and bars alongside a 
gallery, offices and a museum space. 
 
Located at the heart of the Town Centre, Block C will be a hub of activities whilst providing a 
visual juxtaposition between the old and the new. The Neo Georgian brick façade of the 
Sergeants’ Mess, with its attractive sash windows, Portland Stone portico and decorative 
stone detailing, lend a sense of civic importance to the Town Park. The existing façade will be 
cleaned and restored with new windows and doors replicating the existing. On the south 
façade of the Mess, outdoor seating for the restaurants will be provided, encouraging 
customers to spill out onto the expansive terrace, generating active day and evening uses. 
 
The new extension, with its diversity of uses and form will animate the High Street and 
provide an active frontage to the Town Square. Internally there is an event space which can 
provide 311 seats with flexibility to accommodate theatrical productions, music and art events, 
and other public functions. Restaurants, café at ground floor will make good use of its 
orientation with terraces facing south onto Town Park. 
 
 

Page 77



The Food Store will sit opposite Block C on the northern side of the High Street maintaining 
the 12m separation approved in the previous scheme.  A series of shops or food and 
beverage units are facing the Block A providing a continuity of active frontages from one end 
to the other within the High Street. 
 
Sergeants' Mess Heritage 
 
The Sergeant's Mess was originally built in 1939 and is built to a standard design in a C-plan 
which would have originally featured a semi enclosed courtyard to the rear. Its building style is 
Georgian revival and is a good example of inter-war public architecture. The building portrays 
a strong sense of place, is of robust high quality construction with good quality architectural 
detailing and materials. These standard military building types were by no means unique, but 
the part retention of the building within the masterplan provides a significant heritage benefit, 
in representing and celebrating both the architectural and military history of the site and the 
armed forces a whole. 
 
The refurbished Portland Stone portico, arched windows and grand proportions of the 
Sergeants’ Mess will provide a backdrop to both the Town Park and the Town Square. The 
proposed mixture of bars, restaurant and entertainment facilities, will not be dissimilar to the 
original use of the Sergeants’ Mess. 
 
The Sergeants' Mess conversion will include: 
 

 Retain, refurbish and enhance the existing façade onto Town park and its side returns. All 
openings to be replaced with windows and doors similar to the original. 

 A new roof respecting the original roof massing and height will be covered with historic 
clay tiles similar to the originals. 

 Retain and expose the interior of the retained façade to provide character to the new event 
space. 

 
The flexible event space within the central core of the building is connected to the service 
yard, allowing easy delivery of sets and props. Dressing rooms, green room and offices are all 
located at the back of the stage. The stage itself is flat, assuming that a raised platform will be 
used when necessary, but also allowing the stage to be opened up onto the main space. The 
event space is accessed from Town Square via a foyer on the ground floor that also provides 
lift access to the first floor and public toilets. 
 
It is envisaged that the ground floor food and beverage (F&B) areas will be let to public house 
/ restaurant operators and be managed independently, each having their own entrances, 
service access and potential bar kitchen areas. Other cultural components like the gallery 
space and the museum can be found on the first floor which will potentially enhance the 
building's scope to become the cultural centre for Whitehill and Bordon. The refurbishment of 
the Sergeants’ Mess providing such a variety of uses, will create a hub of activity at the heart 
of the new Town Centre. 
 
The retained facade and side returns provide a strong visual presence and is a key asset in 
place making. It scores high in the objective assessment based on Conservation Principles. 

Page 78



Whilst not listed the building is locally important due to its high evidential and architectural 
value. Whilst a new roof is proposed the height and traditional form of the structure has been 
maintained. This is a key feature as it allows for the building's strong visual presence to be 
appreciated. The attractive sash windows to the front/side façades are also being retained 
which is a welcome addition to the proposals. This ensures a characterful, yet important part 
of the structure is reflected. 
 
Proposed new build structure 
 
Adjoining the Sergeant's Mess will be a new two storey structure with food and 
beverage/retail units. The structure is uncompromisingly modern with an emphasis on good 
design and detailing. It appears as a good example of the sensitive handling of modern 
architecture close to an historic building.  The height of the structure respects the character of 
the Sergeants' Mess allowing for its grandeur to stand out.  Views from the new Town Park 
will reflect this as the historic building will enclose the northern end of the park. The 
Conservation Officer is encouraged by the decision to retain the essence of Sergeants' Mess 
within the masterplan which tells the story of Bordon's Military history, whilst providing an 
important focal point within the new Town Park. 
 
The Conservation Officer has concluded that the setting of the non-designated heritage asset 
will not be adversely affected by the additions of the structure. Conditions are attached to 
secure the quality of the works to the retained element of the building. 
 
There are a number of flues required to facilitate the F&B units within the building. Whilst 
there is a danger that the flues water down the quality of the Block C, they are however a 
necessary requirement. A condition is attached to secure the proposed colour of the flues to 
minimise their visual prominence.  
 
Block E  
 
Block E is located at the north-western edge of the town centre. It is the second tallest 
building with the largest massing. It acts to bookend the western end of the High Street and 
frames views to the existing clock tower in Sandhurst Block. 
 
Block E is bound to the east by the food store and to the north by Budds Lane facing 
outwards towards the Annington Homes estate. To the south, the building opens onto the 
Town Square. There is a communal garden located between the block and the supermarket 
which can be accessed from the ground floor of Block E, or via external steps from Budds 
Lane. 
 
The block extends 78m along the western edge of the town centre fronting onto Havannah 
Way. The massing of the building is divided into three elements, with the middle section set 
down by one storey compared to the other sections to break up the scale and visual form. 
The block is designed to take into account the level changes, as the ground level falls away 
by circa 5m to Havannah Way. The height of the block ranges between 15m and 18m with a 
maximum of 5 storeys of apartments.  
 

Page 79



It is primarily a residential block providing 80 flats, with two retail units at ground floor level. 
Over 50% of the units are double aspect with no units facing north only. All flats are designed 
to meet the minimum space standards with 5 units designed to be adaptable to meet the 
requirements for wheelchair users. The flats are accessed via three entrances on Havannah 
Way, each articulated with a canopy and enhanced brick detailing. Each of the three core 
areas within the block are served by lifts and stairwells with no more than seven flats per core 
area, per floor.  
 
A grey brick is used on the base of the building, linking it to Block A and Arrival Square, while 
a red brick above responds to the existing Sandhurst Block and Mess Hall.  
 
The northern end facing Budds Lane is part inset to reduce its bulk and impact upon the 
existing residential properties on the northern side of Budds Lane. Whilst Block E will be 
approximately twice the height of the properties in the Annington estate, the nearest 
properties are between 35 and 40m away and separated by Budds Lane. There are also 
mature trees of commensurate height to Block E along the Annington homes' boundary with 
Budds Lane which provides a strong landscaped screen to further protect the amenities of the 
Annington Homes properties. Other blocks fronting Budds Lane are of a less imposing in 
scale, with separation distances of c. 38m (superstore) and 68m (MSCP). These separation 
distances are considered to be adequate to minimise overlooking or appear over dominant in 
the street scene. 
 
The flats on the eastern elevation will have an outlook across the supermarket, with the flats 
at the north-east corner of Block E located relatively close to the service yard for the Morrison 
store. The applicant has updated the supporting acoustic report to address initial concerns 
from the Council's Environmental Health Officer (EHO) relating to noise generated from the 
service yard. The applicant proposes a series of mitigation measures to limit the impact of 
noise on residential amenity which range from enhanced glazing of windows to limiting the 
hours that certain activities take place (such as deliveries, opening hours, etc) and specifying 
minimum sound reduction performance criteria for the external building. The mitigation 
measures are acceptable to the EHO and are secured by conditions attached.  
 
Car parking for the residents in Block E are provided within the multi-storey car park, with the 
residential cycle parking provided in three secure cycle stores next to the entrance to each 
core. In total 160 long stay secure cycle parking spaces are provided with additional spaces 
for visitors provided in the public realm. 
 
To conclude, it is considered that the appearance, layout and scale of the building blocks are 
to a good standard and is in accordance with Policies CP29, CP30 and CSWB5 of the Joint 
Core Strategy. 
 
b Landscaping 
 
A significant amount of the public realm has already been completed at the town park, upper 
and lower town squares.  
 
 

Page 80



The remaining elements to the landscaping and public realm comprise the arrival square, 
pedestrianised High Street and landscaping surrounding the individual blocks, all of which are 
connected by a series of foot and cycle paths to create a permeable centre. 
 
The hard and soft landscaping has taken into account the level changes within the site and 
are designed to make the space accessible to all. Where possible existing trees have been 
retained and new trees are integrated across the extent of the application site. The hard 
landscaping uses a combination of materials, including a variety of hardwearing concrete 
setts which can be readily replaced and maintained if required. 
 
Street furniture including seating areas are dispersed throughout the public realm to provide 
comfortable areas to sit and relax. Tree planting has been selected to provide seasonal 
interest, enhancements to biodiversity and to ensure that they thrive in the various locations. 
Street trees have been selected to ensure that there is no conflict with the new buildings. 
Overall, the general approach to landscaping is considered to be acceptable. 
 
Arrival Square and High Street 
 
The Arrival Square has been designed to accord with the proposed highway layout agreed by 
HCC to ensure that there is a seamless interface between the RMA boundary and the public 
highway. The approach to the eastern elevation of Block A and the retail frontage to Block B 
have been designed to create an open entrance to the scheme. Raised planters flank both 
sides of arrival square with additional tree planting and seating to provide a landscaped 
entrance to the development.  
 
The High Street provides a spacious level surfaced walkway between Blocks A, B and C. 
Free standing planters and seating are proposed to provide visual interest. The width and 
length of the street is considered appropriate and works well with the scale and massing of 
the surrounding buildings  
 
Sergeants Lane 
 
Sergeants Lane provides an important link for pedestrians and cyclists into the Town Park, 
The Shed and the Leisure Centre. The proposals aim to create a green route along Sergeants 
Lane emphasising pedestrian importance. The vehicular strategy contributes to this by limiting 
the traffic in this zone to allocated residential car parking. 
 
The proposed landscape includes linear hedge planting to provide a sense of enclosure to the 
car park whilst greening the key pedestrian route. Tree planting softens the spaces and 
creates a green link into the Town Park. Hedge enclosures to private front gardens further 
contribute to greening the boundary treatment to Block B.  
 
Block E residential courtyard 
 
A communal courtyard for the residents in Block E separates the residential block from the 
Supermarket. The courtyard provides a combination of private gardens for ground floor 
residents and communal seating areas with pedestrian access.  

Page 81



The landscaping comprises communal grassed areas, individual trees and linear hedging. 
Herb planters planted with herbs and sensory plants add to the communal nature of the 
spaces and promote ownership amongst residents. A robust shade tolerant Woodland Mix 
has been proposed at the base of the tall retaining wall that runs along the south-east edge of 
the courtyard. This shade tolerant mix combined with tree planting along this edge will provide 
a green buffer to the retaining wall and provide a more intimate scale to the space.  
 
Overall, the proposed hard and soft landscaping provides a healthy balance of landscaping 
and paving. Once established, the planting will provide a mature landscape to offset the hard-
wearing footpaths which provide the necessary access opportunities within the town centre. 
The Council's Landscape Officer has raised no objections to the landscaping proposals. For 
these reasons the landscaping details of the reserved matters are considered to be in 
accordance with the aims of Policies CP20 and CP29 of the Joint Core Strategy. 
 
c. Access (and Movement) 
 
Access and movement within the Town Centre is predicated upon a flexible strategy which 
aims to promote walking and cycling as well as facilitating vehicular movements.  
 
The HPA permission established the principles for development across the Former Prince 
Philip Barracks which in turn informed the Structuring Plan. The land use parameter plan 
supporting the HPA identified that the new Town Centre would be sited in the north-western 
corner of the former barracks with frontages onto both Budds Lane and C114. Budds Lane is 
an important and well trafficked road within the town having historically provided the main 
accesses into the barracks. The land use parameter also allocated the siting of a new 
Oakmoor Secondary School on Budds Lane, which opened in 2019 and has also seen the 
development of residential parcels (2.7 - 2.9) which is under construction and part occupied. 
 
The HPA parameter and structuring plans identified that principal vehicular routes would 
access directly onto Budds Lane providing connectivity through the new development parcels 
linking the Town Centre with the surrounding residential developments and the relief road to 
the west. A significant amount of the infrastructure has been delivered to facilitate parcels 
coming forward. Havannah Way is the primary link route which runs from Budds Lane along 
the western edge of this application site through to junction 2 of the relief road. Other primary 
and secondary routes will also provide access off Budds Lane for the residential parcels to 
the western side of Budds Lane, where an access to remaining former barrack buildings (in 
the TTA) currently exists (opposite Oakmoor School). 
 
The above narrative highlights the planned nature of access points off Budds Lane which tie 
into the wider traffic modelling for the regeneration of the town agreed as part of the original 
HPA. The only objection to the application came from a resident who has concerns regarding 
access to the Town Centre from Budds Lane close to the schools and the impact of the 
associated traffic. The proposed changes to the Town Centre have resulted in two additional 
access points onto Budds Lane between Havannah Way and the C114, one to access the 
MSCP, the other for the service yard for the food store.  
 
 

Page 82



Both of these accesses, together with all other routes have been assessed by the Highway 
Authority, who, having received amendments to address their initial concerns, have raised no 
objection subject to a number of conditions. The improvements to the pedestrian and cycle 
route along the northern side of Budds Lane, including crossing points, have already been 
part implemented at the Oakmoor School end of the lane and form part of the measures to 
provide safe routes to the schools on Budds Lane. Further pedestrian and cycleway works will 
be implemented along the northern side of Budds Lane as part of the s278 works to be 
undertaken by the Highway Authority to extend the safe access to the schools. The 
amendments to the town centre will also see a reduction in the scale of development 
compared to the previously approved scheme. The number of accesses onto Budds Lane 
broadly aligns with the Structuring Plan and is therefore considered to be acceptable. 
 
New access roads, foot and cycle paths are proposed to create a permeable town centre that 
links to the new and existing road network. The town centre will create a new High Street 
which is partly pedestrianised. The C114 is proposed to be reconfigured to create an 
enhanced arrival space, which will include new bus drop off points and additional crossing 
points across the C114. In addition to a number of uncontrolled crossing points the following 
controlled crossing points are proposed: 
 

 A zebra crossing across all three arms of the Budds Lane / C114 / High Street mini 
roundabout 

 A zebra crossing across the northern arm of the High Street / Chalet Hill Mini roundabout 

 A puffin crossing point across the southern arm of the proposed High Street / Chalet Hill 
mini roundabout and; 

 A zebra crossing across Havannah Way leading into Lower Town Square. 
 
The overarching target of the travel plan for the Town Centre is to facilitate the use of 
sustainable transport modes particularly for local journeys and journeys to work including 
cycling, walking and the use of public transport. The aim is to reduce the volume of car traffic 
generated by the development, particularly single occupancy vehicles, to encourage greener 
car travel and reduce the need to travel. 
 
The proposals are also seeking to promote public transport, VOCA (on demand point to point 
mobile app travel service within 5 mile radius of W&B), cycling and walking as a way of 
promoting healthier living. The Travel plan will seek to continually develop though monitoring 
and evaluation. Measures delivered to date include the provision of significant new walking, 
crossing and cycling routes within Town Centre and the wider Whitehill and Bordon area, 
complimentary wayfinding initiatives throughout the town and the promotion of the Park and 
Stride facilities for Oakmoor School and Bordon Infant and Junior Schools. In order to reduce 
the need to travel, the applicant is providing high speed broadband, providing facilities within 
dwellings to enable working from home and to provide residents with employment, leisure and 
retail opportunities close to home. Residential Travel Packs will also be provided to each new 
household upon first occupation. These initiatives are supported.  
 
Phase 1 of the Town Centre will include the provision of a transport hub which will form part of 
the s 278 works to be undertaken at Arrival Square by the developer. The transport hub will 
include:  

Page 83



 Arrival Square will deliver improved public realm along the High Street / C114 to improve 
integration between the new Town Centre and areas of Bordon to the east of the C114 

 Bus stops (for 2 buses) for northbound and southern bound services  

 Additional north and south bound on carriageway bus stops on Havannah Way 

 provide journey planning information, integrated with Real Time Information ('RTI') and 
travel information online; and 

 provide sheltered bus stops; secure, high quality short and long stay cycle parking; access 
to electric vehicle charging points; taxi drop-off points; and car clubs. 

 
Outside of the scope of this application but included within the s278 are highway works to be 
undertaken by HCC on behalf of the applicant, works to the C114 including the creation of a 
roundabout at Chalet Hill and the narrowing of the existing carriageway and widening the 
footways on both sides of the road. This will assist in reducing vehicular speeds and providing 
a more pedestrian friendly area outside the new Town Centre area. The improved pedestrian 
access across the C114 will also act to calm traffic in this area and help contribute to 
increasing journey times along the C114 thereby making the new relief and more attractive 
route for through traffic.  
 
The submission of a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is required via 
condition 29 of the HPA. The CEMP will need to consider the in combination impacts of 
construction of the Town Centre together with the associated s278 works. In addition, the 
proximity of the Infant and Junior Schools will also need to be properly considered to minimise 
the impact during the construction phases. This will be a matter which will need co-ordination 
by both the Highway Authority and developers. 
 
Servicing and Refuse  
 
The supermarket in Block A will have a dedicated service area accessed from Budds Lane. 
HGVs will arrive via Havannah Way and leave eastwards along Budds Lane. The deliveries 
will occur 6 times a day with the hours restricted by condition.  
 
Deliveries to Blocks A (non supermarket), B and E will be via smaller vehicles using a one 
way route off Havannah Way onto the High Street and out onto the C114 via Sergeant's 
Lane. It is proposed to restrict the movement of vehicles through the town centre using a 
series of rise and lower bollards. These bollards will be linked to the management controls, 
where the bollards will be lowered to allow delivery access at restricted times between 7am to 
11am and 4pm to 8pm. They will also be lowered to allow wheelchair friendly taxi's and 
emergency vehicles. All other vehicles will be denied access. A condition is attached to 
restrict the deliveries times as listed above.  
 
Residential deliveries 
 
Block A, B and E comprise of residential dwellings above the retail space.  It is becoming 
increasingly popular for people to have groceries and on-line shopping delivered to their door. 
Block A has a delivery bay (in the form of a layby on the eastern side of C114 which can be 
accessed independently of restrictions).  
Due to land availability constraints this is the closest available space for such deliveries. Block 

Page 84



B has 2 delivery bays on Sergeants Lane which can be used by both residents and 
commercial operators outside of the Town Centre restricted hours. Block E also has a 
dedicated delivery bay fronting Lower Town Square with access unlimited.  
 
Refuse Strategy  
 
Retail/Commercial Block A, B, C & E  
 
Each retailer will provide their own bins. On collection day the retailers will be responsible for 
moving their individual wheeled bins to the service yard where they will be emptied.  
 
Residential Blocks A, B & E  
 
The refuse collection arrangements for Block A will see the bins wheeled from their storage 
area by the management company into a bin holding area to the rear of retail units on the 
High Street. The refuse will then be collected by the refuse operator. There is a 20m carry 
distance, which is the closest distance without having bins left directly on the High Street, the 
management company will then return the bins to the bin store within Block A. 
 
For Block B, bin stores are provided next to the stair cores. Refuse vehicles will be able to 
reverse into the car park via Sergeants Lane to collect the bins form the bin stores. Block E 
has bin stores next to stair cores and the refuse vehicles will be collected off Havannah Way 
where the refuse vehicles can stop in the layby.  
 
Parking 
 
Car Parking 
 
A total of 831 parking spaces are provided on site. The parking will be provided within the 
Block E MSCP (362 spaces), Block B on-street parking (44 spaces), Woodland Car park (248 
spaces), and Parade Square temporary car park (177 spaces). When calculating the parking 
requirements, a 20% reduction in the standard requirements has been applied to reflect linked 
trips where visitors are likely to visit the town centre for more than one use e.g. go shopping 
and go to the leisure centre. In line with the structuring plan and the previous permission each 
apartment will have one designated parking space. There are also 150 spaces dedicated to 
the Leisure Centre. The calculations also take into account the need for the Health Hub 
building, which will be subject to a separate RMA submission later in the year. Taking all of 
the above into account there will be a small surplus of car parking spaces compared to the 
standards. 
 
A significant proportion of the parking spaces have already been provided at the woodland 
and parade square car parks. The MSCP will come forward in the earlier phase of 
development to ensure adequate parking provision as part of the phased delivery of the town 
centre (see section 2 below, of this report).  
 
 
 

Page 85



The temporary provision of spaces on the former Parade Square will be re-provided as part of 
the permanent solution to be provided within the second phase of the Town Centre. The 
parking provision for later phases of the town centre will also apply a 20% reduction in 
standard parking provision to take into account the behaviour of visitors. This approach is 
considered to strike the right balance in parking provision. If there are any concerns regarding 
parking on neighbouring streets, the Highway Authority could consider introducing controls 
and parking restrictions on affected streets. The applicant has not provided details of a 
charging strategy for parking in the town centre, although it is anticipated that there will be 
incentives in the early years to make the town centre an attractive proposition for visitors. A 
condition is attached requiring details of the parking strategy, there will inevitably be examples 
of people choosing to park outside of the town centre, however bearing in mind this 
sustainable location, it is considered that the provision within the town centre is adequate, 
balancing parking demands and maintaining a pleasant visual landscape.  
 
Cycle Parking 
 
A total of 642 cycle parking spaces are provided across the town centre. The majority are 
located within residential blocks (346 spaces) and the remainder in cycles stands (296 
spaces) across the site and the former Parade Square. The position of the non-residential 
cycle spaces are deliberately located around the edge of the town centre to discourage 
cycling through the central hub of the Town Centre and to restrict the likelihood of conflict with 
pedestrians. This is considered to be sensible approach which is unlikely to discourage 
people from cycling within the Town Centre itself. A balance has been struck to ensure there 
is a functional provision of cycle stands to reflect the likely need and the visual appearance of 
the area. The over provision of cycle stands could look over cluttered. 
 
Motorcycle Parking 
 
A total of 15 motor-cycle spaces are provided in MSCP. This provision is considered to be an 
acceptable level of motorcycle parking provision for this phase of the development. 
 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points  
 
There will be provision for 74 parking spaces with access to EV charging points in phase 1 of 
the Town Centre. Compared to the 16 approved in the previous TC1 RMA.  
 
3. Phasing 
 
The applicants are proposing the implementation of the blocks in the following phases: 
 

 Block C - June 2022 to April 2023 

 Morrisons and Multistorey car park - June 2022 to April 2023 

 Block A - June 2022 to September 2023 

 Block B - July 2023 to September 2024 

 Block E - April 2024 to December 2025 
 
 

Page 86



4. Affordable housing  
 
The s106 agreement that accompanied the HPA requires 15% affordable housing to be 
delivered, which equates to 26 affordable dwellings. The application however proposes no 
affordable housing within this phase of development. The applicant has indicated difficulties in 
securing a registered provider (RPs) due to management and maintenance implications for 
mixed tenure blocks, particularly circumstances where dwellings are located above retail 
units. Some RPs also indicated a preference for having self-contained affordable blocks 
separate from the market units and retail.  
 
Affordable housing delivery at Prince Phillip Barracks to date has provided 60% of the overall 
affordable housing as flats which would rise to 70% if the 26 town centre flats were provided.  
This is not comparable with the market split and does not offer quality accommodation for 
families.  
 
As a consequence, the applicant has submitted a revised Affordable Housing Strategy (AHS) 
which shows the distribution of the 26 units across later phases pursuant to the Hybrid 
permission. The increase in later phases would only require an increase from 15% to 18% in 
relevant phases. This approach will provide an opportunity to redress the balance of 
affordable houses to flats. The Council's Housing Officer has reviewed the proposed 
redistribution in the AHS and have raised no objection to the proposed approach. The overall 
tenure mix complies with the approved section 106.  
 
5. Lighting Strategy 
 
The aim is to provide illumination where required rather than blanket lighting across the whole 
of the Town Centre. This allows for a more sustainable approach in terms of energy 
consumption. 
 
A combination of lighting columns, bollard and wall mounted lighting is proposed. With the 
exception of some in-ground LED up lighting for trees within the public realm, lighting will be 
directed downwards to minimise light spillage into the night's sky. The South Downs National 
Park Authority queried the use of column lighting on the open top deck of the MSCP where 
light spillage is susceptible. Unfortunately, bollard lighting is generally not practical in areas 
with parked vehicles, as the lighting can be blocked, so column lighting is required. The 
applicant has agreed to the stepping down of lighting levels to coincide with the closure of 
food and beverage and other key anchors within the Town Centre. Dimming can be achieved 
automatically to column-mounted fittings which can be secured via condition. Overall, the 
general approach to lighting is considered appropriate and acceptable. 
 
6. Green Measures 
 
The HPA agreed a site wide Green Measures Strategy (GMS) which offers a range of options 
to deliver a sustainable community. The GMS for the Town Centre aims to reflect the 
overarching strategy. 
 
 

Page 87



A fabric first approach to has been adopted for the main blocks, with occupiers empowered 
and encouraged to use smart meters, low energy use measures and heating and hot water 
controls. Post completion post occupancy measures are also proposed. Existing structures 
such as the Sergeants' Mess which will be assessed under the relevant Building Regulations. 
 
The Town Centre redevelopment will include low carbon technologies including photovoltaic 
panels and air source heat pumps. The blocks will be heated by gas boilers on a communal 
system which will make them more efficient in environmental terms supplemented with smart 
building management systems. The details of the energy strategy will need to be agreed by in 
advance of the implementation of the development to demonstrate how they comply with the 
GMS, such details will be secured via condition. 
 
7. Drainage and Utilities 
  
The application is supported by a drainage technical note for the first phase of development 
within the proposed town centre, which has been updated to reflect consultee comments.  
  
A flood risk assessment was approved as part of the Hybrid Planning Application (HPA) 
permission. The FRA concluded that the site is not at risk from flooding from nearby rivers or 
ground water. As detailed in the HPA, there will be a significant reduction in the impermeable 
areas across the site.  
 
In compliance with the FRA it is proposed to discharge surface water from the town centre 
into the Oxney Drain at restricted rates. The foul water will be drained to a strategic foul 
pumping station which has been approved by Thames Water and located to the south of the 
town centre adjacent to the north-east of the Phase 1a development site.  
   
To overcome the challenging topography a cascading attenuation system is proposed within 
the Town Centre development area, whereby a series of attenuation tanks are provided, 
located within large open areas within the public realm. Each tank will have its own flow 
control device to maximise the potential attenuation.  
  
The modelling for the Town Centre takes into account climate change and the FRA sought 
discharge rates. It is proposed to offer the main streets and drainage within to the adopting 
authorities, under the relevant Water Act. Other non-adopted areas, including the permeable 
paving within the surface car park will be maintained by a management company. 
  
The drainage proposals have been reviewed by the Council's Drainage Consultant, the 
County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority, and the Environment Agency. Following the 
submission of additional information relating to flow rates the Lead Local Flood Authority has 
raised no objection to the RMA. Details of the future management and maintenance of non-
adopted drainage will be subject to condition. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



The approach to the supply of other utilities are summaries below.  
 
Electricity 
 
A new primary substation is proposed off Oakhanger Road to service the wider needs of the 
Prince Philip Barracks development. A new electricity main will be required along Budds 
Lane. A network of substations will be located across the Town Centre.  
 
Photovoltaic panels will be installed on the roof of the food store to supplement the power 
demand of the building supplied by the grid. 
 
Gas 
 
A new main will be laid from Budds Lane and the pressure will be converted down to low 
pressure via gas governor to deliver to multiple connections.  
 
Water 
 
The potable water supply will be provided by South East Water (SEW) and the development 
will require a new main taken from Budds Lane.  
 
Telecoms 
 
The redevelopment of the Prince Philip Barracks site provides an opportunity to deliver a 
resilient ultra-fast broadband which guarantees residential purchasers connectivity from the 
point of moving in.  
 
The town centre is a compact high-density area, and it will be possible to provide 100% high 
speed Wi-Fi coverage of the area including bus stops, community and commercial spaces. 
The universal Wi-Fi service will cover both the external and internal spaces. 
 
Security 
 
A number of rise and lower bollards will be provided throughout the town centre to restrict 
vehicular access and tie in with the permitted delivery times. These will be controlled by the 
management suite within Block B. CCTV will also be provided at these locations with the 
feeds sent to the management suite. 
 
8. Conditions discharge pursuant to conditions attached to the original Hybrid Planning 
Application (HPA) 
  
The applicants have submitted a parallel application 55587/151 proposing to discharge 
various HPA planning conditions and s106 obligations pursuant to planning application 
55587/001. The relevant conditions are 8, 10, 11 (Ecology), 13, 14 (Archaeology), 16 (Foul 
and Surface Water Drainage), 20 (Japanese Knotweed), 21 (Cycle storage), 22 
(Contamination), 25, 26, 27 (AIA, Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection 
Measures), 36 (Lighting Scheme), 37 (Sergeants' Mess) and 44 (Transport Hub). 

Page 89



Ecological related conditions (Conditions 8, 10 and 11) 
As part of the original HPA permission, Hogmoor Inclosure was secured to deliver the 
provision of a SANG to mitigate any biodiversity implications resulting from the wider Bordon 
Garrison redevelopment. The SANG has now been implemented as approved including a 
circular walk, bat bunkers and other ecological mitigation measures. The principle of using 
SANGs as mitigation was accepted as part of the original HPA, as was the scale of the town 
centre, so although the town centre is a significant phase of development, the size of the 
SANG was commensurate to the capacity requirements. The wider impact upon wildlife were 
considered and mitigated through the provision of the SANG and the use of other mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures detailed in conditions 8, 10 and 11 below. The on-
going management of the SANG has initially been carried out by the developers and in the 
longer term through a management organisation, which should effectively deal with the day-
to-day management and ensuring the SANG remains an attractive alternative recreational 
facility to the Special Protection Areas surrounding the town.   
  
In addition to the provision of the SANG, there were three conditions relating to ecological 
matters, condition 8 relates to Bat mitigation, condition 10 relates to Ecological Measures and 
condition 11 relates to the provision of Bird Boxes. The application is accompanied by an 
Ecological Mitigation, Compensation & Enhancement Strategy - Town Centre 1 (EPR, 
December 2021) which sets out the proposals for the town centre phase 1 construction area 
and how conditions 8, 10 and 11 will be discharged. This document has been reviewed by the 
County Ecologist, who is broadly satisfied that the details address the outstanding conditions 
for the first phase of the town centre. 
 
Condition 8 Bats 
 
All buildings on site have been cleared previously and there are no issues relating to bats at 
the site. A minor modification to the extant European Protected Species licence is required to 
enable alterations to internal works in one building. This is a minor issue and our Ecologist 
does not request further information at this stage. In addition to the strategic bat 
mitigation/enhancement measures for bats, the developed site includes a number of integral 
bat roosting features. These measures are acceptable. 
 
Condition 10 Ecological Measures 
 
The site is essentially clear and devoid of ecological features. Land has been cleared in 
accordance with agreed ecological mitigation measures. Mitigation, compensation and 
enhancement measures for this and other development parcels are included within a wider 
package including the Hogmoor SANG. The County Ecologist is content that the ecological 
impacts associated with this parcel can be effectively mitigated through these wider 
measures, although finer details of management etc. will be provided at a later stage.  
 
Condition 11 Birds 
 
A range of bird nesting boxes are proposed, comprising a total of 4 Sparrow Terraces, 4 
Starling Boxes, 16 Swift boxes and 11 House Martin cups.  

Page 90



These are certainly welcome, although the County Ecologist would like to see additional 
boxes fitted for Common Swift in particular, which is echoed by the comments received from 
Hampshire Swifts. The large structures offer an excellent opportunity for integral Swift bricks 
and these enhancement measures are an inexpensive solution to assist a fast-declining bird 
species. An absolute number of additional boxes is to be confirmed, although the one for one 
provision advocated by Hampshire Swifts is unlikely to be secured. A condition is attached to 
secure an increased number of swift bricks within the development.   
 
Condition 16 Foul and Surface Water Drainage 
  
The applicant originally submitted a Drainage Technical Note and has subsequently provided 
updates to the Technical Note which addressed the initial comments of HCC in its role as 
Lead Local Flood Authority. The LLFA have subsequently confirmed they are happy to 
recommend the discharge of the condition. The Council's Drainage Consultant has also 
raised no objection to the proposals. 
 
Condition 20 Japanese Knotweed - discharged for the Town Centre Phase 1 
  
The supporting Japanese Knotweed Survey Report identified only one strand of Japanese 
Knotweed found within the wider HPA site boundary. This was located at the northern 
extremity of BOSC area. This is a considerable distance from the town centre development 
area and therefore there is no evidence of Japanese Knotweed in this RMA area, this 
condition is discharged. 
 
Condition 21 Cycle Parking / Storage - part discharged 
  
As discussed earlier in this report, an adequate supply of cycle storage is proposed across 
the town centre. A condition is attached to ensure the phased delivery of the cycle storage.  
 
Condition 22 Contamination 
  
The application is supported by a site investigation and contamination report which has been 
reviewed by the Council's Contamination Officer. The submitted site investigation / 
contamination reports further develops the previously submitted details supporting the 
previous applications and provides additional monitoring. The extent of the reports are 
satisfactory. Further remediation details are required to secure clean capping, soil excavation 
and the removal of affected soils. 
 
The discharge of this condition will be subject to the submission and monitoring of the 
remedial works. 
 
Arboricultural Conditions 25 AIA and AMS and 26 Tree Protection Fencing 27 Trees and 
Hedge Protection - all discharged. 
  
The Council's Arboricultural Officer has reviewed the details and has raised no objection to 
the discharge of these conditions, subject to the works being undertaken strictly in 
accordance with the supporting documents, this can be secured via condition. 

Page 91



Condition 37 Details of retention / part demolition of Sergeant's Mess - Discharged 
 
As detailed in the conservation implications section (see section 4) of this report. The 
Conservation Officer has no objection to the works relating to Sergeant's Mess in Block C. 
There are conditions attached relating to future works to the building, but condition 37 of the 
original HPA 55587/001 is discharged.  
 
Condition 44 Transport Hub 
 
Details pursuant to condition 44 which relates to the Transport Hub. These works are tied into 
the works to be undertaken by the developer as part of the Highway works to be implemented 
under s278 of the Highway Act. Following receipt of additional information, the Highway 
Authority supports the works which they will be undertaking on behalf of the applicant. 
 
9. Response to comments received from the public and Whitehill Town Council 
 
Considering the scale of the development proposed, the application has generated very little 
public comment, which is remarkable. Only one letter of objection was received relating to the 
proximity of the schools and highway access to the town centre off Budds Lane. A letter of 
comment was also received from a conservation group concerning the number of Swift boxes 
provided on site. These matters have been addressed elsewhere within the report. People are 
less likely to write in to register their support, which suggests there is a general support from 
the community for this development to happen. Significantly, Whitehill Town Council have 
also raised no objection to the proposals. 
 

Conclusion 
 
The principle of creating a new town centre within the strategic allocation area has already 
been established through the approval of the hybrid planning application reference 55587/001 
and the approval of the previous RMA under 55587/065. The amendments to the first phase 
of the town centre are considered to be acceptable which will bring forward a significant and 
essential phase of development within the context of the regeneration of the town. The 
proposals will provide an enhanced retail, commercial, entertainment and cultural offer to the 
town which will add vibrancy and create employment opportunities. 
 
The scheme has been successfully amended to address changing demands of the retail 
economy. Development heights are guided by and compliant with the Structuring Plan and 
HPA parameters. The height of the tallest blocks (A and E) respond well to the scales 
permitted and the accepted principle of higher density development contained within town 
centre creating a modern bespoke design identity for Whitehill and Bordon without appearing 
overly dominant in the street scene. It is considered that the proposals integrate well with the 
existing neighbours and the wider town whilst supporting sustainable alternatives to the car 
and contributing to the aim of creating a healthy community.  
 
 
 
 

Page 92



There is a clear emphasis in creating a vibrant a sustainable community, the phasing of 
delivery for the Town Centre will place an emphasis upon promoting improved leisure facilities 
through the associated food and beverage units together with the already built Shed and 
Leisure Centre. 
 
The proposals accord with the reserved matter criteria for access, appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale of development and subject to the relevant conditions set out below, are 
acceptable having regard to the relevant material planning considerations.  It is considered 
that the proposal is in accordance with the relevant policies contained within the East 
Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy and Government guidance in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
RECOMMENDATION APPROVAL subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 Highway Conditions 

 
No part of the development shall be occupied until the highway 
improvement works for the Arrival Square as shown on drawing 
ITB167765-GA-019 Rev H have been fully implemented, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason - In the interest of highway safety and to ensure that the roads 
and footpaths are constructed to a satisfactory standard 
 

2 No part of the development shall be occupied until the improvement 
works to Budds Lane, as shown on drawing ITB167765-GA-09 Rev B 
have been fully implemented unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interest of highway safety and to ensure that the roads 
and footpaths are constructed to a satisfactory standard. 
 

3 In accordance with the Cycle Phasing Plan (i-transport plan ref  
ITB16765-GA-034  Rev D 05.05.22) (the Phase 1) 8 cycle spaces 
adjacent to Block A food store shall be completed before first occupation 
of the Block A food store, the (the Phase 1) 14 cycle spaces adjacent to 
Block A residential shall be completed before first occupation of Block A, 
and the (the Phase 1) 8 cycle spaces adjacent to Block B shall be 
completed before first occupation of Block B. Unless otherwise agreed 
with the local planning authority, the phase 2 cycle parking shall be 
provided by 31st December 2025. Once provided, all the permanent 
cycle parking areas (excluding the temporary spaces provided on the 
former parade square) shall then be permanently retained and used for 
that purpose at all times, unless subsequently agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To make provision for on street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 
 
 

Page 93



4 The multi-storey car park hereby approved shall be completed and 
be operational before first occupation of either Block A food store or 
Block A residential or Block E and used for parking purposes only 
unless otherwise subsequently agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 
The car-parking proposed to serve Block B shall be made available, 
surfaced and marked out before first occupation of Block B. All the 
permanent vehicle parking areas shown on UPL car parking provision 
plan no 16001_A129-2B (12/2021) (including the Woodland Car Park) 
shall then be permanently retained and used for that purpose at all times, 
unless otherwise subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason - To make provision for on street parking for the purpose of 
highway safety. 
 

5 No part of the development shall be occupied until, details of the town 
centre car parking strategy management plan, including 
 

 Details of the charging strategy to be introduced; 

 Reasonable monitoring of parking behaviour in Budds Lane (and other 
roads to be agreed with the Highway Authority) for up to 12 months 
following the first occupation of Blocks A and E in the town centre; 

 Reasonable appropriate mitigation measures in agreement with the 
Highway Authority. 

 
Have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. The parking strategy 
shall be implemented as approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To encourage designated public parking within the town centre. 
 

6 The approved lines of site splays shown on the approved plan (Fairhurst 
Plan ref. TC1-FHT-XZ-XX-DR-C-0110 Rev T5 (Dated 7/4/20) shall be 
kept free of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metre in height above the 
adjacent carriageway and shall be subsequently maintained thereafter 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To provide satisfactory access with sufficient levels of visibility 
in the interests of highway safety. 
 

7 No part of Blocks A and E shall be occupied until the improvement 
works/parking restriction measures across the Town Centre, as shown on 
drawing ITB16765-GA-026 Rev G have been fully implemented and 
maintained there-after as approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interest of highway safety and to maintain the delivery 
servicing of Blocks A and E 
 
 

Page 94



8 Development shall proceed in accordance with the Transport Hub (ref 
ITB16765-006D R dated 05 April 2022) and delivery of transport hub 
measures provided on a phase by phase basis, with all measures 
delivered prior to final occupation of the TC 1 buildings, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interests of highway safety and to integrate sustainable 
travel across the Town Centre 
 

9 No part of Block E shall be occupied until the existing access point, as 
shown on drawing ITB16765-GA-037 Rev A, is removed from Havannah 
Way, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In the interest of highway safety and to ensure that the roads 
and footpaths are constructed to a satisfactory standard 
 

10 No development shall commence until details to show proposed 
finished road/footpath and site levels have been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall proceed in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing 
with the local planning authority. 
Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory internal relationship across the 
Town Centre and suitable integration with the existing highway. It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as 
these details relate to the construction of the development and thus go to 
the heart of the planning permission 
 

11 Notwithstanding drawing TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-94 revision P18, no 
development above slab level shall take place until details of the 
raised table (or an alternative method of controlling vehicle speeds) 
including details of adjoining hard and soft landscaping, shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority showing safe pedestrian routes 
and levels in and around the raised table. The approved details shall be 
implemented as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority. 
Reason - In order to ensure the safety of pedestrians and highway safety 
 

12 Deliveries and Routing 
 
All commercial deliveries and refuse collections (with the exception of 
deliveries to the food store in Block A) shall be restricted to between 
07.00 to 11.00 and 
16.00 to 20.00 hours. All deliveries and services shall follow the routes 
indicated within the i-transport Residential Refuse Collection 
Arrangements and Servicing Overview Technical Note (ref ITB16765-
008A TN (dated 5th April 2022) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To protect the amenities of residents and visitors to the Town 
Centre. 

Page 95



13 All commercial deliveries and refuse collections to the approved food 
store in Block A from/to Budds Lane shall be restricted to between 0700 
to 2300 hours Monday to Saturday and to between 0900 to 1700 hours on 
Sundays, Public and Bank Holidays. 
Reason - To protect the amenities of the residents within the vicinity of the 
food store. 
 

14 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or 
any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), the Block A food store 
hereby approved shall not operate a home delivery service to 
customers without the prior written approval of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason - In order to protect the amenities of local residents/occupiers. 
 

15 Conservation conditions (Block C) 
 
Prior to the commencement of any works hereby authorised on 
Block C, details of steps, including engineering drawings and supporting 
method statement, to be undertaken to secure the safety and stability of 
that part of the building which is to be retained shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such steps shall include 
measures to strengthen any wall or vertical surface; support any floor, 
roof or horizontal surface and to provide protection for the building against 
the weather during the progress of works. The measures shall be carried 
out in full accordance with such approval, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - To ensure the parts of the building to be retained are protected 
from unintended demolition or collapse. It is considered necessary for this 
to be a pre-commencement condition as these details need to be agreed 
prior to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of 
the planning permission.    
 

16 Prior to the replacement of the existing roof tiles on Block C details, 
including labelled samples (manufacturer, type and where it is to be used) 
of the roofing materials to be used on the Sergeant's Mess, have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
roof shall be tiled using the approved materials unless subsequently 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
Reason - To ensure the materials and finishes to be used are appropriate, 
in order to maintain [the architectural interest of the building] [the 
character and appearance of the conservation area]. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.    
 

Page 96



17 Any alterations and repairs to brickwork shall be carried out utilising 
matching materials, brick bond and jointing details. An appropriate 
matching mortar shall be used, the specification for which to be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and implemented as agreed, 
unless subsequently approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To maintain the character and avoid damage to the building. 
 

18 Prior to commencement of works on Block C, a method statement 
showing how the cleaning (of the Sergeant's Mess brickwork) will conform 
to BS8221-1:2012 (Code of practice for cleaning and surface repair of 
buildings. Cleaning of natural stone, brick, terracotta and concrete must 
be agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Cleaning shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the statement 
once approved, unless subsequently agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason - To maintain the character and avoid damage to the building. 
 

19 Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to commencement of works 
on Block C, detailed drawings any new windows or doors within the 
Sergeant's Mess have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The details to comprise: - 
 
a) Plans to clearly identify the window [and door] in question and its 
location within the property. Where a large number of windows [and 
doors] are involved, the windows should be cross referenced to an 
elevation drawing or floor plan for the avoidance of doubt. 
 
b) 1:20 elevation and plan; 1:5 section and full-size glazing bar detail. The 
details to include the position of the window within the opening (depth of 
reveal) and method of fixing the glazing (putty or beading)  
 
c) The materials used, method of opening and finishes.  
 
The works shall be carried out in full accordance with such approval and 
be retained thereafter, unless subsequently agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. 
         
Reason - In order to safeguard the building's special architectural and 
historic interest.  It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-
commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission. 
 

20 Details of rainwater goods and the colour finish to external extraction flues 
to be submitted and agreed prior to the commencement of 
development on Block C.  
 

Page 97



Details shall be implemented as approved, unless subsequently agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To protect the character of this historic building. It is considered 
necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission. 
 

21 Obscure Glazing Bathroom Windows 
 
Notwithstanding any indication shown on the approved plans, all 
residential bathroom and en-suite windows and non-residential bathrooms 
and toilet windows of the development hereby permitted shall at all times 
be glazed with obscure glass. 
Reason - To protect the privacy of the occupants of the adjoining 
residential properties. 
 

22 Noise and Pollution attenuation 
 
Prior to the commencement of construction of each individual block 
containing residential units above ground level (Blocks A, B and E), 
a scheme of sound attenuation measures, in accordance with the relevant 
British Standard, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Any works which form part of the approved 
scheme shall be completed before any residential properties are 
occupied, unless subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason - To protect the amenities of future residential occupants of the 
development. 
 

23 Within three months of the commencement of development on Block 
C, a scheme, in accordance with the relevant British Standard, which 
specifies the provisions to be made for the control of noise emanating 
from this block, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out, and thereafter 
maintained, in accordance with the approved scheme unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that the amenities of the flats and adjacent properties 
are not detrimentally affected by the use of the site outside reasonable 
working times. 
 

24 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or 
any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), any units located within 
Block C shall, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning Authority, 
adhere to the following conditions: 
 
 

Page 98



1. Any units shall not open later than midnight Monday to Saturday and 
23:00 hours on Sundays; 
2. Music within food/drink premises to be played inside only; 
 
Reason - To protect the amenities of future residential occupants of the 
development. 
 

25 Any commercial use (with the exception of any use in Block C) within the 
town centre shall not be open to customers outside the hours of; 
 
07:00 to 23:00 Monday to Saturday 
09:00 to 17:00 Sunday, Public or Bank holidays 
 
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the amenities of the flats and adjacent properties 
are not detrimentally affected by the use of the site outside reasonable 
working times. 
 

26 Prior to the first occupation of Block C, details shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
addressing the proposed kitchen ventilation/extraction system that will be 
used in Block C, including the required maintenance regime for the 
system. The details shall be prepared by a competent person for the 
purpose of assessing potential odour and noise nuisance to surrounding 
properties. The details should be drawn up with regard to "Guidance on 
the Control of Odour and Noise from Commercial Kitchen Exhaust 
Systems" produced by EMAQ. The agreed details for Block C shall be 
fully implemented before the use hereby approved is commenced and the 
equipment shall be installed, operated and maintained in accordance with 
the approved details and shall be retained thereafter. 
Reason - To ensure that the amenity of the area is not detrimentally 
affected by the use of the site. 
 

27 Occupation Use restrictions 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or 
any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), the commercial units 
contained within Blocks A, B and E shall be restricted to use by for the 
following purposes within Class E, Shops (which replaces the former Use 
Classes A1, Financial and Professional Service (A2), Café and 
restaurants (A3) and Offices (B1a) as approved under 55587/001 or 
Pubs, wine bars and drinking establishments and take away (which 
replaces the former Use Classes A4 and A5 approved under 55587/001) 
and for no other purpose. 
 

Page 99



Reason - In order to maintain control over future use of the premises in 
the interests of the general amenity of future occupants of the flats within 
the town centre and in the interests of highway safety. 
 

28 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended (or 
any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order), the units contained 
within Block C shall be restricted to use by the following purposes within 
Class E, Shops (which replaces the former Use Classes A1), Café and 
restaurants (A3) and Offices (B1a) together with Pubs, Wine Bars and 
Drinking establishments, Museums, Galleries and Concert Halls, Live 
Music Venue and Dance Hall (which replaces the former Use Classes A4, 
A5 and D1 (in part) and D2 (in part) approved under 55587/001) and for 
no other purpose. 
Reason - In order to maintain control over future use of the premises in 
the interests of the general amenity of future occupants of the flats within 
the town centre. 
 

29 Prior to first occupation of the Block C details of how the Gallery and 
Museum space (located on the first floor) will be operated and managed 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing within the Local Planning 
Authority. The space shall be used as agreed, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure the Gallery and Museum space is effectively 
managed and occupied. 
 

30 Green Measures and Energy Strategy 
 
Notwithstanding the details and recommendations contained within the 
Green Measures Statement (Carbon Green Consultancy Rev 1 dated 
17.03.22). Within 6 months of the date of this permission details of all 
the green measures to be implemented within the Town Centre to comply 
with the approved Green Measures Strategy shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to include: 
 
1. An overheating strategy 
2. Approach to addressing the performance gap 
3. Approach to post occupancy monitoring and compliance demonstrated 
on Green Measure Strategy targets 
 
The approved details shall be implemented as approved, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
This condition may be discharged on an individual block by block basis. 
 
 
 

Page 100



Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change in 
accordance with Policy CP24 of the East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 
and to ensure that this is fully considered prior to commencement. 
 

31 Notwithstanding the details contained within the Prince Philip Barracks 
Utilities and Energy Statement Town Centre Phase 1 (WBRC, December 
2021). Within 12 months of the date of this permission, details of the 
energy strategy to be implemented for the Town Centre shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved details shall be implemented unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
This condition may be discharged on an individual block by block basis. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary 
mitigation and adaptation measures with regard to climate change in 
accordance with Policy CP24 of the East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 
and to ensure that this is fully considered prior to commencement. 
 

32 Wayfinding / Landscape 
 
Prior to the first occupation of the development details, including the 
timing of implementation and location, of all way-finding signs, including 
totem signs, pedestrian monoliths poles and finger boards designed to 
assist in navigating through the Town Centre information boards, as 
detailed on P110 and 111 of the Design and Access Statement shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. 
The details and equipment shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved details and thereafter retained, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To assist visitors to navigate through the town centre. 
 

33 All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details and in accordance with the recommendations of the 
appropriate British Standards or other recognised codes of good practice. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years after planting, 
are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall 
be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of 
species, size and number as originally approved unless a suitable 
alternative species are otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason - To ensure the provision and establishment of a reasonable 
standard of landscape in accordance with the approved designs. 
 
 
 

Page 101



34 Management Company 
 
Prior to the first occupation of the development, details of the 
management company set up to secure the management of the following 
non adopted areas of the site, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
a) Non adopted roads, parking areas and footpaths; 
b) Non adopted street lighting; 
c) Non adopted foul and surface drainage; 
d) Non adopted open space, street furniture and play areas, including the 
petanque courts 
 
Details of how the management company shall operate in relation to each 
relevant phase of delivery of the town centre, shall include the following: 
 
1. Control of deliveries, including times of deliveries and the operation and 
siting of bollards 
2. Refuse and Waste collection; 
3. CCTV 
4. Pest control 
5. How the management company will deal with complaints received from 
both residential and commercial tenants 
6. Restrict parking access to designated residential parking areas, 
including details of Automatic Number Plate Recognition systems. 
7. On-going review of management company controls 
8. The management of late night street lighting levels 
9. Litter picking and street cleansing throughout the town centre 
 
Such details shall include a plan showing the extent of the 4 non-adopted 
areas outlined above and shall also include details of how each of 
aforementioned areas / elements shall be managed and maintained in 
perpetuity. The details shall be implemented as approved, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason - To establish a management company to oversee the 
management of key facilities within the town centre. To ensure the future 
maintenance of unadopted roads, parking areas, footpaths, street lighting, 
open space areas including the children's play equipment, drainage and 
interaction of tenants are secured in perpetuity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



35 Materials 
 
Notwithstanding any indication of materials that may have been given in 
the application or in the absence of such information, no development 
above slab level on a particular block (A, B, C or E) shall take place on 
site until samples / details including manufacturers details of all the 
materials to be used for external facing, roofing and highways materials 
for the development hereby approved have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The development 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
This condition may be discharged on an individual block by block basis. 
 
Reason - To ensure that the materials used in the construction of the 
approved development harmonise with the surroundings. 
 

36 Control of Lighting 
 
The lighting details shall be implemented in accordance with the 
recommendations of the BDP Lighting - Planning Report (Second Issue 
dated 05.04.22). All lighting shall be controlled to direct light downwards, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details 
of a scheme to control the overnight luminance of the rooftop lighting 
MSCP lighting shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before the MSCP first operates. Once approved, the lighting 
control scheme shall be operated unless otherwise agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason - To restrict the amount of up lighting to protect the potential 
impact of dark night skies within the locality of the South Downs National 
Park and in the interest of protecting biodiversity. 
 

37 Ecological Mitigation 
 
Development shall proceed in accordance with the ecological mitigation 
measures detailed within the Ecological Mitigation, Compensation and 
Enhancement Strategy - Construction Phase TC1 (EPR, P14/43-3A July 
2017) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
with the exception that no development above slab level shall take 
place within Blocks A (excluding the food store and commercial units) B 
and E, until details of the number and location of swift bricks / boxes 
within each relevant Block A (excluding the food store and commercial 
units) B, and E shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The number of swift boxes shall be implemented as 
agreed. 
 
 
 

Page 103



Reason - To protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation 
Regulations 2010, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), 
NPPF and with Policy CP21 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy 
 

38 Tree Protection 
 
Development shall proceed in accordance with the tree protection 
measures detailed within document TC1RP/14 Tree Removal and 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Arboricultural Development Report 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment plan referenced 
TF/1063/AIA/RMA/TCP1/200RevA. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - To ensure that trees, shrubs and other natural features to be 
retained are adequately protected from damage to health and stability. 
 

39 Disabled Parking 
 
All disabled parking bays hereby approved shall be provided in 
accordance with BS 8300:2009 unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - to ensure that adequate disabled facilities are provided within 
the town centre. 
 

40 External Public Address System 
 
The external PA system hereby approved shall only be used for the 
purposes of necessary / emergency broadcasts regarding the safe 
operation of the town centre only, and for no other use unless agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason - In order to protect the amenities of local residents/occupiers. 
 

41 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans and particulars: 
 
Documents Schedule 
 
TC1RP/01 - Planning Statement (December 2021) 
TC1RP/02 - Plans and Application Form 
TC1RP/03 - Design and Access Statement (Urban Place Lab - Ref 
16001TC 1 DAS Rev d 
December 2021) 
TC1RP/04 - Air Quality Statement (Meinhardt - Ref 
2944_MEP_M_REP001 11.11.21) 
TC1RP/05 - Drainage Technical Note 
Amended drainage plans  
Town Centre 1 Proposed Drainage Review Ref JM/HMJ/210690/17-

Page 104



2/TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-0501 Issue P01 (11.02.22) 
Town Centre 1 Drainage Management Strategy Ref JM/HMJ/210690/17-
2/TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-0502 Issue P01 (11.02.22) 
Pick Everard TC 1 LLFA response ref TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-0502 Rev 
P01 (30.03.22) 
Pick Everard TC 1 LLFA response ref TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-0503 Rev 
P01 (10.05.22) 
 
TC1RP/06 - Transport Assessment (i-transport Ref BH/RS /ITB16765-005 
R 15.12.21)  
Additional documents 
Transport Assessment Addendum (i-transport Ref BH/ITB16765-009A R 
(05.04.22)) 
Residential Refuse Collection Arrangements & Servicing Overview (i-
transport Ref BH/RS /ITB16765-008A TN (05.04.22)) 
 
TC1RP/07 - Landscape Specification (Barton Willmore - Ref 27552 Rev 
P1 10.11.21) 
TC1RP/08 - Ecological Mitigation, Compensation and Enhancement 
Strategy (EPR Addendum Note 10.11.21) 
Additional Document 
EPR 'Swift Box Provision' Note (05.04.22)  
 
TC1RP/09 - Noise Impact Assessment (KP Acoustics)  
 
Amended reports  
Updated KP Acoustics report 23709.NIA.01 Rev C (15.03.22) 
KP Acoustics Morrisons Planning Compliance Report ref 23288.PCR.01 
Rev B (23.03.22) 
 
TC1RP/10 - Lighting Assessment (BDP 17.12.21) 
Amended documents 
BDP Lighting - Planning Report (Second Issue dated 05.04.22) 
BDP 'Technical Lighting Design Report' (Second issue - dated 05.04.22)  
 
TC1RP/11 - Utilities and Energy Statement (WBRC December 2021) 
TC1RP/12 - Green Measures Statement (Carbon Green Consulting 
06.12.21) 
Amended document 
Carbon Green Consulting Green Measures Statement Rev 1 (dated 
17.03.22) 
 
TC1RP/13 - Japanese knotweed Survey Report (PBA Solutions May 
2017) 
TC1RP/14 - Tree Removal and Arboricultural Method Statement and 
Arboricultural Development Report (tree: fabrik Ref 
TF/AIA/1063/HPA/TCP1&ECrevA November 2017) 

Page 105



TC1RP/15 - Site Investigation / Contamination Report (A-Squared Studio 
Geotechnical Design Report Ref 1974-A2S-XX-XX-RP-Y-0002-01 
(03.12.21)) 
TC1RP/16 - Sergeant's Mess Heritage Statement (Urban Place Lab 
(09.12.21)) 
 
Plans Schedule 
16001-59-2E - Location plan   
16001-63C - Site layout plan with ground floor uses 
 
Block A Residential  

WBR-BDP-BA1-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P03 GA Level 00 Plan (04.04.22)  

WBR-BDP-BA1-01-PL-A-03151 Rev P01 GA Level 01 Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-02-PL-A-03152 Rev P01 GA Level 02 Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-03-PL-A-03153 Rev P01 GA Level 03 Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-04-PL-A-03154 Rev P01 GA Level 04 Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-05-PL-A-03155 Rev P02 GA Level 05 Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-RF-PL-A-03156 Rev P01 GA Roof Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 North Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 East Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-EL-A-03243 Rev P01 South Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-EL-A-03244 Rev P01 West Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-SE-A-03351 Rev P01 Section AA  

WBR-BDP-BA1-XX-SE-A-03352 Rev P01 Section BB 

Block A Morrisons 

WBR-BDP-BA3-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P01 - Level 00 

WBR-BDP-BA3-01-PL-A-03151 - Level 01 (Roof) 

WBR-BDP-BA3-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 North & South Elevations  

WBR-BDP-BA3-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 East & West Elevations  

WBR-BDP-BA3-XX-SE-A-03341 Rev P01 Sections AA & BB 

Block A - Commercial  

WBR-BDP-BA4-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P01 Ground Floor Plan & Mezzanine  

WBR-BDP BA4-01-PL-A-03151 Rev P01 First Floor Plan & Mezzanine  

WBR-BDP-BA4-02-PL-A-03152 Rev P01 Second Floor Plan & Mezzanine  

WBR-BDP-BA4-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 South & North Elevations  

WBR-BDP-BA4-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 East & West Elevations  

WBR-BDP-BA4-XX-SE-A-03251 Rev P01 Sections AA & BB  

Page 106



Block A - Multi-Storey Car Park 

WBR-BDP-BA2-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P01 - Ground Floor Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA2-01-PL-A-03151 Rev P01 - First Floor Plan    

WBR-BDP-BA2-02-PL-A-03152 Rev P01 - Second Floor Plan  

WBR-BDP-BA2-03-PL-A-03153 Rev P01 - Third Floor Plan   

WBR-BDP-BA2-03-PL-A-03351 Rev P01 - Sections AA & BB  

WBR-BDP-BA2-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 - North & South Elevations  

WBR-BDP-BA2-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 - East & West Elevations 

Block B 

WBR-BDP-BB1-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P02 - Level 00 Plan (04.04.22)  

WBR-BDP-BB1-01-PL-A-03151 Rev P01 - Level 01 Plan       

WBR-BDP-BB1-02-PL-A-03152 Rev P01 - Level 02 Plan       

WBR-BDP-BB1-03-PL-A-03153 Rev P01 - Level 03 Plan      

WBR-BDP-BB1-RF-PL-A-03154 Rev P01 - Roof Plan           

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 - North Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 - East Elevation    

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-EL-A-03243 Rev P01 - South Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-EL-A-03244 Rev P01 - West Elevation   

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-SE-A-03351 Rev P01 - Section AA   

WBR-BDP-BB1-XX-SE-A-03352 Rev P01 - Section BB 

Block C 

WBR-BDP-BC1-00-PL-A-01150 Rev P01 - Level 00    

WBR-BDP-BC1-01-PL-A-01151 Rev P01 - Level 01      

WBR-BDP-BC1-RF-PL-A-01152 Rev P01 - Level 02 (Roof)  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 - North Elevation   

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 - East Elevation    

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-03243 Rev P01 - South Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-03244 Rev P01 - West Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-SE-A-03301 Rev P01 - Sections AA      

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-SE-A-03302 Rev P01 - Sections BB 

Existing Plans 

WBR-BDP-BC1-00-PL-A-01131 - Ground Floor Existing Plan  

WBR-BDP-BC1-00-PL-A-01132 - First Floor Existing Plan     

WBR-BDP-BC1-00-PL-A-01133 - Roof Existing Plan              

Page 107



WBR-BDP-BC1-00-PL-A-02131 - GF Demolition Plan             

WBR-BDP-BC1-01-PL-A-02132 - FF Demolition Plan             

WBR-BDP-BC1-02-PL-A-02133 - Roof Demolition Plan        

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-01231 - BDP Existing and Demolition - north 
elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-01232 - BDP Existing and Demolition - east 
elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-01233 - BDP Existing and Demolition - south 
elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-EL-A-01234 - BDP Existing and Demolition - west 
elevation  

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-SE-A-01331 - Existing Sections 1 of 2   

WBR-BDP-BC1-XX-SE-A-01332 - Existing Sections 2 of 2  

Block E 

WBR-BDP-BE1-00-PL-A-03150 Rev P03 - Level 00 (06.04.22)  

WBR-BDP-BE1-01-PL-A-03151 Rev P01 - Level 01    

WBR-BDP-BE1-02-PL-A-03152 Rev P01 - Level 02   

WBR-BDP-BE1-03-PL-A-03153 Rev P01 - Level 03   

WBR-BDP-BE1-04-PL-A-03154 Rev P01 - Level 04   

WBR-BDP-BE1-05-PL-A-03155 Rev P01 - Level 05   

WBR-BDP-BE1-RF-PL-A-03156 Rev P01 - Roof Plan    

WBR-BDP-BE1-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P01 - North Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BE1-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P01 - East Elevation    

WBR-BDP-BE1-XX-EL-A-03243 Rev P01 - South Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BE1-XX-EL-A-03244 Rev P01 - West Elevation  

WBR-BDP-BE1-XX-SE-A-03351 Rev P01 - Section AA 

Site Wide 

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-EL-A-03241 Rev P02 - Street Elevations 1 & 2  

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-EL-A-03242 Rev P02 - Street Elevations 3 & 4  

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-EL-A-03243 Rev P02 - Street Elevations 5 & 6  

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-SE-A-03341 Rev P02 - Site Section 1 & 2  

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-SE-A-03342 Rev P02 - Site Section 3        

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-SE-A-03343 Rev P01 - C114 cross sections  

WBR-BDP-XX-XX-SE-A-03344 Rev P01 - Budds lane cross sections 

 

Page 108



Highways, Access and Movement (i-transport plans) 

ITB16765-SK-002 Rev C - Delivery strategy overview 

ITB16765-GA-001 Rev F - Block B Swept Path Analysis (04.04.22)             

ITB16765-GA-005 Rev G - TC1 Refuse Vehicle Swept Paths (05.05.22)   

ITB16765-GA-006 Rev D - TC1 Delivery Vehicle Swept Paths             

ITB16765-GA-007 Rev G - TC1 Fire Tender Swept Paths (05.05.22)   

ITB16765-GA-008 Rev G -TC1 Fire Tender Swept Paths (05.05.22)  

ITB16765-GA-009 Rev B - Budds Lane Site Access Arrangements             

ITB16765-GA-010 Rev B - Morrisons Service Yard Swept Path                   

ITB16765-GA-011 Rev G - Block B & C Site Access Arrangements 
(05.05.22)  

ITB16765-GA-016 Rev F - TC1 Fire tender swept paths (05.05.22)   

ITB16765-GA-017 Rev F - TC1 Fire tender swept paths (05.05.22)   

ITB16765-GA-019 Rev H - Arrival Square Proposals (05.05.22)    

ITB16765-GA-022 Rev A - BLOCK C Swept Paths          

ITB16765-GA-023 Rev C - Budds Lane Long Section (05.05.22)                                   

ITB16765-GA-024 - Estate car tracking MSCP                                              

ITB16765-GA-026 Rev G - Parking Restrictions Plan (05.05.22)              

ITB16765-GA-027 Rev D - Dimensions Plan (05.05.22)                               

ITB16765-GA-029 Rev B - Estate Car tracking Block B (04.04.22)               

ITB16765-GA-031 Rev D - Estate Car and Refuse Vehicle tracking 
Sergeants Lane (05.05.22)                                                                                                     

ITB16765-GA-032 Rev D - Estate Car and Refuse Vehicle tracking 
Sergeants Lane (05.05.22)                                                                                                        

ITB16765-GA-033 - Swept path analysis (15.03.22)                                      

ITB16765-GA-034 Rev D - Cycle Phasing Plan (05.05.22)                           

ITB16765-GA-037 Rev A - Proposed Havannah Way works (26.04.22) 

Public Realm and Open Space 

27552 TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-94 - REV P18 - Overall (05.05.22)  27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-94_1 - REV P10 - Ground Floor Hard Landscape GA sheet 1 of 3 (05.05.22)  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-94_2- REV P9 - Ground Floor Hard 
Landscape GA sheet 2 of 3 (05.05.22)  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-94_3 - REV P9 - Ground Floor Hard 
Landscape GA sheet 3 of 3 (06.04.22)  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-95 - P5 - Ground Floor Landscape 
Reference Plan and Scope of Works (05.05.22)       

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-600- REV P2 - Arrival Square details  

Page 109



27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-610 -REV P2 - Guadaloupe Way  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-620 - REV P1 - Budds Lane Cross 
Section   

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-680 - REV P3 - Access Roads 
Sergeants Lane (06.04.22)                              

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-690 - REV P2 - Block E Courtyard 27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-700_1 - P5  - Soft Landscape Sheet 1 of 3 (05.05.22) 27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-700_2 - P4 - Soft Landscape Sheet 2 of 3 (06.04.22) 27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-GL-DR-L-700_3 - P4  - 
Soft Landscape Sheet 3 of 3 (06.04.22)  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-ZZ-DR-L-500 - Tree Pit Details  

27552-RG-TC1-BW-XZ-ZZ-DR-L-501 - Tree Pit Details                                                  

27552 RG-L-10 Rev P4 - Access Plan (05.05.22) 

Drainage (Pick Everard) 

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0500_P03 Drainage Plan - Sheet 1 of 3  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0501_P03 Drainage Plan - Sheet 2 of 3  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0502_P03 Drainage Plan - Sheet 3 of 3  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0513 Rev P01 - Proposed Surface Water 
Catchment Plan  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0514 Rev P01 - Proposed Surface Water 
Catchment Plan  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0515 Rev P01 - Proposed Surface Water 
Catchment Plan 

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0516 Rev P02 - Proposed TC1 Drainage Layout 
Sheet 1  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0517 Rev P02 - Proposed TC1 Drainage Layout 
Sheet 2  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0518 Rev P02 - Proposed TC1 Drainage Layout 
Sheet  

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0519 Rev P02 - Exceedance Plan           

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0520 Rev P04 - Proposed Surface Water 
Drainage Long Sections - Sheet 1 of 3            

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0521 Rev P04 - Proposed Surface Water 
Drainage Long Sections - Sheet 2 of 3            

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0522 Rev P04 - Proposed Surface Water 
Drainage Long Sections - Sheet 3 of 3            

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0523 Rev P03 - Proposed Foul Water Drainage 
Long Sections - Sheet 1 of 2                 

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0524 Rev P03 - Proposed Foul Water Drainage 
Long Sections - Sheet 2 of 2            

     

Page 110



TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0530 Rev P03 - Proposed Surface Water and 
Foul Water Drainage Manhole and Pipe Schedules                                                                    

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0531 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Manhole and Pipe Schedules                                                                                    

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0532 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Manhole and Pipe Schedules    

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0570 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 1 of 7                                                   

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0571 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 2 of 7                                                       

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0572 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 3 of 7                                                     

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0573 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 4 of 7                                              

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0574 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 5 of 7                                               

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0575 Rev P02 - Proposed Surface Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 6 of 7                                                     

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-DR-D-0576 Rev P02 (Blank Sheet)- Proposed Surface 
Water Lateral Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 7 of 7 

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0577 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 1 of 6                                                                   

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0578 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 2 of 6                                                                     

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0579 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 3 of 6                                                                          

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0580 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 4 of 6                                                                      

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0581 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 5 of 6                                                                            

TC1-PED-ZZ-7Z-DR-D-0582 Rev P02 - Proposed Foul Water Lateral 
Drainage Longitudinal Sections - Sheet 6 of 6 

TC1-PED-ZZ-ZZ-CA-D-0500 Rev P02 - Surface Water Calculations 
 
Reason - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



Informative Notes to Applicant: 
 

1 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire 
District Council (EHDC) takes a positive and proactive approach and 
works with applicants/agents on development proposals in a manner 
focused on solutions by: 
offering a pre-application advice service, 
 
updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing 
of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
In this instance the applicant undertook pre-application discussions and 
was updated of any issues following the submission of consultee 
comments. 
 

2 Please note that this permission is linked to the Hybrid Planning 
Permission reference 55587/001 and subject to the conditions and 
Planning Obligations made under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

3 This approval of reserved matters is granted in part compliance with 
condition 3 of the Hybrid Planning Permission 55587/001.  You are 
reminded that all other conditions attached to the outline permission 
continue to apply. 

 
 

CASE OFFICER: Adrian Ellis 01730 234222 
——————————————————————————————————————— 
 

 
 

Page 112



SECTION 1 Item 02 - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon 
 
 

 
 

Site Layout with Ground floor uses 

Page 113



SECTION 1 Item 02 - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon 
 
 

 
 

Labelled location plan 3D image 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



SECTION 1 Item 02 - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 

Street Elevations 1 and 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 115



 
SECTION 1 Item 02 - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon 

 
 

 
 

Street Elevations 3 and 4 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Street Elevations 5 and 6  

Page 116


	Agenda
	 
	2. Confirmation of Minutes
	6. Future Items
	7.(i) 25256/048/FUL/NU - Land to the rear of Brackenbury Gardens and, Boyneswood Close, Medstead, Alton
	7.(ii) 55587/152/RES/AE - Land at and adjoining Bordon Garrison, Camp Road, Bordon

